KIDS COUNT **STATE OF THE CHILD** 2022



Under embargo unit







KIDS COUNT

TN.GOV/TCCY/STATEOFTHECHILD

THE STATE OF THE CHILD IN TENNESSEE

2022

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS Executive Director— Richard Kennedy Director of Data,

Communication and Impact – **Rose Naccarato** Policy Specialist– **Kylie Graves** KIDS COUNT Data Manager– **Sujit Das**



This research was partially funded by the Annie E. Casey Foundation. We thank the Foundation for its support but acknowledge the findings and conclusions presented in this report are those of the staff of the Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth alone and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Foundation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS										
Demographics	1									
Special Topics	3									
Resilient Communities	4									
 Adverse Childhood 	5									
Experiences										
 Family-Friendly Workplaces 	7									
 Youth & Young Adults 	9									
COVID-19	11									
Economics	12									
• Poverty	13									
Supplemental Poverty Measure	16									
• Housing	17									
Education	19									
Education Outcomes	20									
• Support Services	22									
Early Childhood Education	23									
	20									
	28									
Substance Use	30									
 Risk Behaviors 	31									
 Food & Nutrition 	32									
 Access to Health Care 	33									
 Maternal Mortality 	34									
 Maternal and Infant Care 	35									
• Dental Care	36									
Child Welfare and Youth Justice	37									
Child Welfare	38									
Youth Transitions	39									
Domestic Violence	40									
Human Iratficking	41									
Suspension & Expulsion	42									
Youth Justice	43									
Addreviations & Definitions	40									
Rederan Poverty Guidelines	4/									
References	40									

Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth authorization number 316689. December 2022. 1 copy. This public document was promulgated at a cost of \$2.00 each.

DEMOGRAPHICS

Tennessee continues to become more diverse with each new generation. Generation Alpha is our most racially diverse yet.

Tennessee child population is nearly evenly split among the ages with the largest share being 13 year olds at 5.74 percent and the smallest share being those under 1 at 4.72 percent.¹



■ Under 5 ■ 5 to 9 ■ 10 to 13 ■ 14 to 17





Although still the most common continent of origin, Tennessee saw a decrease of families orginially from Latin America between 2019 and 2021. The percent of families from Africa increased from 8 percent to 13, representing a 62 percent increase.³





1 IN 8 Tennessee children are a part of an immigrant family.⁴

1 IN 10 Tennessee school age children speak a language other than English at home.⁵

Children have a variety of experiences that make them who they are. Supporting healthy DEMOGRAPHICS development requires our programs to be equipped serve a variety of needs.

> Among children that moved in the last year, moves within the same county were the most common.⁶





Eight out of 10 Tennessee children live in their bioloigical parents home. Nearly one in 10 live in their grandparents' home.⁸

- Biological child
- Adopted child
- Stepchild Grandchild





Creating a Tennessee where all children have what they need to lead a healthy, engaged and productive life requires recognizing their diverse experiences and individual needs.

According to American Community Survey, approximately one in 20

Tennessee children under 18 have a disability.⁹ Tennessee had nearly 125,000 students aged 3-21 with IDEA-related IEPs in 2020-21.

Some IDEA classifications, such as many Specific Learning Disabilities, may not be captured in ACS estimates.





Among children in Tennessee:⁹ One in 19 have a cognitive difficulty; One in 80 have a self-care difficulty; One in 100 have a vision difficulty; One in 125 have an ambulatory difficulty; and One in 165 have a hearing difficulty

SPECIAL TOPICS













RESILIENT COMMUNITIES

Supporting resilient families and children requires investing in the infrastructure that contributes to positive social and community connections.

Does this child live in a neighborhood that contains certain amenities -parks, recreation centers, sidewalks or libraries?¹



CHILDREN & YOUTH

State Government

A child's neighborhood and built environment paired with their social and community context play a significant role as social determinants of health.

Positive social connections can support healthy child development while simultaneously acting as a protective factor against toxic stress that can derail development, health and social skills.

A child's environment, particularly access to green space, walkability of neighborhoods and community playgrounds can support healthy behaviors, encourage physical activity, and positively impact children's cognitive and motor development.

60% of Tennessee children live in a supportive neighborhood²

Characteristics of a supportive neighborhood include: People in this neighborhood help each other out We watch out for each other's children in this neighborhood; and When we encounter difficulties, we know where to go for help in our community Indicators of family resilience³⁻⁶ When your family faces problems... 5% How often are you likely to stay hopeful even in difficult times? 36% 59% 6% How often are you likely to know we have strengths to draw on? 32% 8% How often are you likely to work together to solve the problems? 35% 57% 9% How often are you likely to talk together about what to do? 35% 56% 50% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 60% Some or none of the time Most of the time All of the time Tennessee TENNESSEE COMMISSION ON

4

70%

62%

CHILDHOOD ADVERSITY

Tennessee children experience adversity at a higher level than their counterparts across the nation.

Since the original Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) study, researchers have begun to examine broader definitions of adversity, including the role of community environments. Childhood, particularly the earliest years and adolescence, are critical times of development. Early adversity can have significant impacts on future health, social development, academic success and economic prosperity. Whether those experiences occur in the household or community, they are damaging.

The most recent data regarding adversity children across Tennessee are experiencing comes from the two-year averages (2020-2021) of the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH). Although referred to as Adverse Childhood Experiences in the survey, the indicators slightly differ from the commonly known 10 ACEs from the original study. Graphs on this page and the following use data from NSCH.¹

The two main differences is the NSCH substituted questions about abuse or neglect for questions about community-based experiences and a question regarding financial hardship. Additionally, the ACEs questionnaire is typically given to adults, asking them to recall their experiences prior to turning 18. The questions in this survey were asking about experiences of those currently under 18, typically answered by the householder or caregiver, which could be an explanation for the omission of abuse or neglect indicators.



Children in Tennessee report higher level of adversity than their counterparts across the country, with 41 percent of Tennesseee children having at least one adverse experience.³

- No adverse childhood experiences
- One adverse childhood experience
- Two or more adverse childhood experiences

2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health Adverse Experiences Indicators² To the best of your knowledge, has this child ever experienced the following:

- Parent or guardian who got divorced or separated?
- Parent or guardian died?
- . Parent or guardian served time in jail?
- . Live with anyone who was mentally ill, suicidal, or severely depressed?
- Lived with anyone who had a problem . with alcohol or drugs?
- Victim of violence or witnessed . violence in neighborhood?
- Treated or judged unfairly because of their race or ethnic group?
- Treated or judged unfairly because of their sexual orientation or gender, 6-17 years? ; and
- Since this child was born, how often has it been very hard to cover the basics, like food or housing, on your family's income?

Black children in Tennessee are nearly twice as likely to have at least two adverse experiences as white children in Tennessee.4

> One in three children below the poverty line in Tennessee had two or more adverse experiences, compared to one in 12 of children living at 400% FPL or higher.⁵









CHILDHOOD **ADVERSITY**

Household adverse experiences are the most common among Tennessee children, with more than one in three reporting some level of household adversity.

As children grow up, their exposure to adversity increases. Nearly one in three Tennessee teens have had two or more adverse experiences.6



No adverse childhood experiences

One adverse childhood experience

To the best of your knowledge, has this child ever experienced the following:⁷⁻¹³

Among Tennessee youth, 35 percent reported some level of household adversity, while 9.4 percent reported community-based adversity.^{7,8} All

indicators of household adversity were more common among Tennessee youth than the national average. **The** most substantial difference being youth who has a parent or guardian that has served time in jail, one in nine in Tennessee compared to one in 16 nationally.¹⁰



Any community-based adversity was also more common among Tennessee youth than the rest of the nation.¹⁴ Yet, indicators of discrimination were lower than the national average.^{15, 16} Children in Tennessee were more likely to have been a victim of or witness to violence in their neighborhood.

To the best of your knowledge, has this child ever experienced the following:¹⁴⁻¹⁷



Family-friendly Policies

A significant number of Tennesseans are both employees and caregivers. Allowing them time to engage in both roles sets them up for success.

FAMILY-FRIENDLY POLICIES AND THE STATE OF THE CHILD



Though not a topic we have included in the past, the presence of family-friendly workplace policies acts as a protective factor for almost all of the issues addressed throughout the *State of the Child*. Policies such as paid family leave, breastfeeding support and child care assistance are all critical to the long-term improvement of childhood outcomes in family and community development, health, economics, and education



FAMILY-FRIENDLY FAST FACTS

• A study on the impact of paid leave found the **median duration of breastfeeding doubled for all mothers who took leave.**²

Breastfeeding is linked with numerous immediate and long-term health benefits such as providing antibodies to protect from illness, significant nutritional value, and a reduction in sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), type 1 diabetes, obesity and asthma.³ Breastfed babies have fewer ear infections, lower rates of infant mortality and fewer hospitalizations.³

- Paid maternity leave **decreased the likelihood of preterm birth by 6.6 percent** and the percentage of babies born at a low birth weight by 3.2 percent.⁴
- A study of OEDC countries found a **5.3 percent decrease in neonatal mortality and a 2.4 percent decrease in infant mortality** two years after adopting paid maternity leave.⁵
- Evaluation of associations between state-wide paid family leave policies and Abusive Head Trauma (AHT) hospital admissions found a significant decrease in the states with PFL policies compared to those without.⁶

AHT is the leading cause of death related to child maltreatment. Instances of AHT peak when infants are 9-20 weeks old.⁶

- Paid leave after giving birth resulted in a **51 percent decrease in the likelihood of maternal rehospitalization** when compared to those taking unpaid leave or no leave.⁷
- When mothers' maternity leaves were 12 weeks or less, **each additional week of leave was associated with a lower odds of experiencing postpartum depression**.⁸
- Women who took at least a month of paid leave were were **54% more likely to report an** increase in wages a year after the birth of their child than those who did not take leave.⁹
- The time fathers spend caring for their children has nearly tripled since 1965.¹⁰
- A study of men in professional roles found 3 out of 4 took a week or less of leave after the birth or adoption of a child.¹⁰ Among lower income men, 60 percent took no time off.¹⁰
- Paid family leave reduced childhood food insecurity by 1.41 percentage points and very low food insecurity rates by 2.29.9
- Women who take paid leave are **35 percent less likely to report receiving public assistance** one year after birth.⁹





Family-friendly Policies

Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth is excited to work with businesses in their efforts to support Tennessee families.



THE BEST PLACE FOR WORKING PARENTS[®]

Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth is excited to continue to support children, youth, families and our state's workforce by joining the national Best Place for Working Parents[®] initative (bestplace4workingparents.com). Beginning in early 2023, Tennessee will join four states and eight cities working to support evidenced-based workplace policies by offering local business leaders the opportunity to determine whether their organization qualifies to earn a Best Place for Working Parents[®] designation, positioning them among the leading family-friendly businesses in the U.S.

The Best Place for Working Parents[®] is a growing network of business leaders who are implementing research-backed family-friendly policies that benefit working parents and businesses' bottom line. Through a first-of-its-kind 3-minute online self-assessment, businesses are able to instantly see if they qualify for a Best Place for Working Parents[®] designation and view how their family-friendly policies fare against other businesses of similar size and industry.

THE 10 EVIDENCED-BASED POLICIES INCLUDE:

CHILDREN & YOUTH

State Government



Youth & Young Adults

Tennessee youth and young adults are the most likely to engage in health risk behaviors. These choices in adolescence can have longlasting negative impacts.

THOUGH YOUNG ADULTS IN TENNESSEE ARE MOSTLY HEALTHY, MANY LACK ACCESS TO REGULAR PREVENTIVE CARE.

88 percent of young adults in Tennessee report having some form of health insurance.¹ One in six young adults delaying care in Tennessee reported needing to see a doctor but not, because they could not afford it.²

89 percent of Tennessee 18-24 year olds reported being in good, very good or excellent health.³

YOUNG ADULTS ARE THE MOST LIKELY AGE GROUP TO ENGAGE IN HEALTH RISK BEHAVIORS.

Though still the most common among 18-24, those reporting heavy drinking has decreased from 8.8 percent in 2019 to 7.2 percent in 2021.⁴ Binge drinking has slightly increased from 24.7 to 25.1 percent.⁵

One in five young adults in Tennessee reported not participating in any physical activities in the last month.⁶

18-24 year olds were the least likely to report wearing a seatbelt. **One in eight reported they did not always or nearly always wear their seatbelt.**⁷

Reported pain reliever misuse among those age 18-25 in Tennessee has been on the decline. Though still the age group with the highest prevalence, misuse has decreased from one out of 13 in 2015-16 to one out of 22 in 2019-2020 reporting misuse of pain relievers within the last year. ^{8,9}

10.0%

5.0%

0.0%

18-24-year olds in Tennessee were
the most likely age group to report
current e-cigarette use at 29.3
percent. The next closest group
(25-34 years old) reported rates of
usage at 13.9 percent.10 One in seven
Tennessee young adults reported
using e-cigarettes every day, up from
one in 18 in 2017. 1135.0%
30.0%
25.0%
20.0%

In 2021, 30.5 percent of Tennessee young adults reported that they had ever been told they have a form of depression.¹²







YOUTH & Young adults

Young people entering the workforce face a set of challenges that their older counterparts do not.



Young adults can face significant challenges as they enter the job market. They have historically been more impacted by recessions and were most significantly affected by pandemic-related layoffs. Additionally, upward mobility has become more and more challenging. Only half of adults who were born in the 80s are out-earning their parents compared to 90 percent of those born in the 40s.²³

The challenges with upward mobility become more pronounced when young adults experienced household financial hardship growing up. A study published in 2022 found nearly 60 percent of those who experienced economic hardship continued to struggle financially in their 30s. Among those with childhood economic hardship, 22 percent lived in extreme economic hardship in their 20's, earning on average \$4,000 per year. Another 36 percent made \$19,000 annually and only had one employer benefit.²⁴

Tennesseans age 16-24 are one in eight workers, yet they comprise: ²⁵ one-third of those walking to work

one-fourth of those using a taxi, bike, motorcycle or other means one-fifteenth of those working from home



On average, seven percent of Tennesseans have a commute longer than 60 minutes. Among those using public transportation it is 21 percent.¹⁹

One in five Tennesseans age 18-24 are living below the Federal Poverty Line.²¹ Approximately 42 percent are making less than \$27, 180.²²







Across the United States, 215,700 children lost a caregiver to COVID-19. The impact of this permanent loss will continue as the pandemic subsides.

The majority of United States teens felt the pandemic had "a little or some" negative impact on their mental health.¹





LOSS OF A CAREGIVER

COVID-19

No past-year MDE Past-year MDE with severe impairment

One of the long-lasting impacts of the pandemic is the number of children who lost a primary caregiver due to COVID-19. As of mid-November 2022, it is estimated that across the United States **215,700 children have lost one or both of their caregivers** and 231,100 have lost a primary caregiver.²

The loss of a primary caregiver is a permanent and devastating loss for so many of our nation's children to be experiencing. Many aspects of a child's life can be upended as they deal with parental deaths. In addition to the trauma of the loss, they may be placed in the foster care system, be separated from other family ties, experience less stable housing, endure economic distress, and be at a heightened risk of being victims of abuse, violence, or developing mental health challenges.³ Studies conducted earlier in the pandemic found that over half of the children who lost a caregiver were between 10-17 years old.³ Additionally, 70% had lost a paternal caregiver.³ Both of these factors could lead children to face additional challenges of caring for younger siblings or forfeiting educational opportunities to obtain employment to provide for their family.

LONG COVID

As of October 2022, more than one in seven Tennessee adults reported having experienced long COVID, as defined by symptoms lasting 3 months or longer. When looking at only Tennessee adults who previously had COVID, that number jumps to 27%. **Approximately one out of 15 adults in Tennessee experienced a reduction in their ability to carry out day-to-day tasks.** The mental distress associated with these long symptoms can take its toll on individuals and make engaging in care-giving activities difficult.





"Psychologically and socially, long COVID takes a mental health toll when patients are unable to work, take care of their families or engage in previously meaningful activities. Pain and disability take an undeniable toll on a patient's mental state as well."

- Dr. Anna Dickerman⁵

ECONOMICS













POVERTY

Between 2019 and 2021 Tennessee saw an historic decline in child poverty, particulary among our youngest Tennesseans.







Recently Tennessee has seen historic declines in child poverty at a level not seen in the rest of the county. Nationally, child poverty has seen a significant decline over the last decade.^{1,2} While Tennessee declined over the decade, the state also experienced a significant drop between 2019 and 2021.^{2,3}

Tennessee saw a particularly significant decrease in the percent of children under five living in poverty.^{2,3} This is encouraging due to the historical tendency for this group to experience the highest rates of poverty. Further, the rapid amount of brain development occurring in the first five years that can be negatively impacted by experiencing poverty.

Separating out the percent of children by how their household income compares to the FPL provides insight into the shifts we saw in child poverty. The percent of Tennesseans living below 50 percent of the poverty line (\$960 a month for a family of 3) increased by 10 percent while those living between .50-.99 FPL (\$96-\$1918 per month) decreased by 22 percent.^{4,5}

We additionally saw an uptick in the number of children living 1.00-1.24 FPL.^{4,5} Using the family of 3 brackets, this correlates to a full-time wage of \$12-\$15 per hour. Tennessee saw an 8.8 percent increase in weekly wage growth from Q1 2021 to Q1 2022, ranking the state 11th in the nation for wage growth.⁶ Market demands for higher wages could be contributing to the decrease in those just under the poverty line and an increase in those 100-124 percent FPL.

As we will discuss in the next section, expanded support of non-cash benefits during the pandemic would not be calculated in the Official Poverty Measure. However, the expanded unemployment benefits Tennesseans received would be included in these figures.



POVERTY

Several Tennessee counties saw child poverty drop by nearly 25 percent between 2019 and 2021.

Rural counties, particularly in the eastern half of the state, saw the most significant declines in child poverty between 2019-2021⁷



COUNTIES WITH THE LARGEST DECADE DECLINES⁷

COUNTIES WITH THE LARGEST TWO YEAR DECLINES⁷

County	2011	2021	Percent Decline	County	2019	2021	Percent Decline
Wilson	16.6%	8.3%	-50.0%	Bledsoe	40.6%	28.9%	-28.8%
Williamson	7.3%	3.9 %	-46.6%	Sequatchie	30.8%	22.7%	- 26.3 %
Greene	37.8%	20.2%	-46.6%	Smith	22.3%	16.8 %	-24.7%
Bradley	27.8%	15.2%	-45.3%	Hawkins	30. 1%	22.7%	-24.6%
Overton	33.7%	19.2 %	-43.0%	Monroe	27.3%	21.3%	-22.0%
Hamilton	28.3%	16.8%	-40.6%	Marshall	20.2%	16.0%	-20.8%
Robertson	22.4%	13.3%	-40.6%	Cocke	41.3%	33.0%	- 20. 1%





POVERTY

Tennessee's investment in our rural and distressed communities is reflected in our child poverty declines.

Many counties identified as distressed by the Governor in 2019 experienced significant declines in child poverty between 2019-2021.^{7,8}



Counties shaded white indicate those identified as distressed in 2019. Orange text indicates a decline in child poverty while gray indicates an increase. Through leadership by the Governor, Tennessee has focused on investing in rural communities. In 2019, through the Governor's first executive order, 15 rural distressed counties were identified and departments focused on increasing economic and educational opportunities in those counties.⁸ Initiatives with a focus on vocational training, expanding access to broadband and health care were at the forefront of this statewide effort. At the time, 15 communities were identified including Lake, Lauderdale, Hardeman, McNairy, Perry, Jackson, Clay, Grundy, Van Buren, Bledsoe, Fentress, Morgan, Scott, Hancock and Cocke.⁸ While that number has decreased to 10, the map above shows the original 15 and the substantial declines in child poverty many of these distressed counties have seen since 2019.⁹ Bledsoe experienced the most significant decline with a 28.8 percent decrease in child poverty.⁷ Average weekly wages in Bledsoe have gone from \$674 in 2019 to \$828 in 2022, representing an \$8,008 annual increase.^{6,10}

Percent of counties in Tennessee experience child poverty declines by years⁷

Between 2011-2021

100% of counties had a decline in child poverty

Between 2019-2020

71%

of counties had a decline in child poverty





Between 2019-2021

58%

of counties had a decline in child poverty

Between 2020-2021

32%

of counties had a decline in child poverty

SUPPLEMENTAL POVERTY MEASURE

Historic federal investment in families through the expanded Child Tax Credit lifted 2.91 million U.S. children out of poverty.

The official poverty measure (OPM), calculated as three times the cost (in current year prices) of a minimum food diet in 1963, is often regarded as an outdated measure that fails to capture the full spectrum of poverty across America.² When considering resources, the OPM only includes a household's pretax cash income.² Although it comes with challenges, the OPMs use throughout decades provides the opportunity for historical comparison.

In 2010, the Supplemental Poverty Measure (SPM) was developed by the Census Bureau and Office of Management and Budget. This additional measure of poverty includes the cash value of benefits such as SNAP, tax credits, TANF and WIC. The SPM includes a broader cost calculation of expenses including food, transportation, medical care, child care and geographic differences. In Tennessee, using a 3-year average of 2019-21, the OPM was 12.2 percent while the SPM was 9.1 percent.²

THE CHILD TAX CREDIT LIFTED 2.91 MILLION CHILDREN OUT OF POVERTY IN 2021¹

Number of children lifted out of poverty in 2021 by support program¹

Refundable Tax Credits: **4.89 Million** Child Tax Credit: **2.91 Million** 3rd Stimulus Payment: **2.27 Million** SNAP: **891,000** Housing Subsidies: **595,000** Unemployment Insurance: **525,000** School Lunch: **271,000** TANF: **109,000** WIC: **39,000**

Across the nation, the number of children living below the Supplemental Poverty Measure dropped from

one in eight in 2019² to one in 20 in 2021² Across all races, child poverty hit a historic low in 2021.





HOUSING

More than one in four Tennesseans are housing cost-burdened. Among those who are low-income, more than 3 out of four are housing cost-burdened.

A high housing cost-burden is when a household spends more than 30 percent of their monthly income on rent, mortgage, homerelated insurance or other related expenses.¹

Research has shown that when households experience a high housing cost-burden, they are less likely to have enough resources to cover food, clothing, medical expenses and other needs.²

More than one in four Tennessee households are cost-burdened.

For lower-income brackets that number increases to three out of four households.³

PERCENTAGE OF TENNESSEANS SPENDING 30% OR MORE OF THEIR EARNINGS ON HOUSING COSTS BY INCOME³



IN THE LAST YEAR:

The number of extremely low income renter households increased by 15,795.⁴ The shortage of rental homes that are affordable and available for extremely low income renters increased to 127,102.⁴

At the beginning of 2022, one in four Tennessee households with children had little or no confidence in their ability to make their next housing payment.⁵

41% of occupied housing units in Tennessee were built prior to 1979, placing children who live in them at higher risk of lead exposure.⁶





HOUSING

The number of students in Tennessee who are unhoused has decreased over the last 3 years, but there has been a slight increase percent of those children sleeping in less safe environments.

The number of Tennessee's public school students who are experiencing homelessness has decreased over the last three years.⁷



There has been a slight increase in the percent of Tennessee's public school students experiencing homelessness whose primary nighttime residence is unsheltered (e.g., cars, parks, campgrounds, temporary camper, or abandoned building)⁷

									∂ 3.0%
2018-19				80	.5%		9.6%	6.9%	/
									∕− 2.8%
2019-20					<u>1.8%</u>		10.2%	5.2%	
									/ − 3.1%
2020-21				80	.7%		11.0%	5.2%	/
■ Do ■ Ho	oubled-up (residi otels/Motels	ng with another	family)						

■ Shelters, transitional housing

Unsheltered (cars, parks, campgrounds, temporary trailer, or abandoned building)

When children are unhoused or experience housing instability it can have long-term negative health, social, developmental and economic outcomes. Infants who experienced an episode of homelessness had higher rates of respiratory illness and more emergency room visits resulting in higher medical costs.⁹ These complications remained significantly higher compared to those who had stable housing through age six.⁹

On a given night in Tennessee there are

2,678 individuals 765 people in families with children 130 unaccompanied youth 492 veterans and 377 chronically homeless individuals staying in emergency shelters, transitional housing programs, or safe havens.¹⁰

TN State Government



The United States health system will spend **\$34.3 billion** between 2017-2027 treating health issues arising in children due to a lack of stable housing.¹¹

EDUCATION















EDUCATION OUTCOMES

State Government

In 2021, 30 percent of Tennessee fourthgraders scored at or above procficient reading levels. This does not mean that the remaining 60 percent are unable to read.

Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) testing reports scores by performancelevel categories of proficiency, including: Below, Approaching, On-Track and Mastered. Raw scores are scaled into these categories based on cutoff points established by Tennessee educators. The Tennessee Department of Education describes the meaning of these categories as:¹

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4
(Below)	(Approaching)	(On-track)	(Mastered)
Performance at this level	Performance at this level	Performance at this level	Performance at this level
demonstrates that the student has	demonstrates that the student is	demonstrates that the student has	demonstrates that the student
a minimal understanding and has a	approaching understanding and	a comprehensive understanding and	has an extreme understanding
nominal ability to apply the	has a partial ability to apply the	has a thorough ability to apply the	and has an expert ability to apply
grade/course-level knowledge and	grade/course-level knowledge	grade/course-level knowledge and	the grade/course-level knowledge
skills defined by the Tennessee	and skills defined by the	skills defined by the Tennessee	and skills defined by the
Academic Standards.	Tennessee Academic Standards.	Academic Standards.	Tennessee Academic Standards.

"This description applies to all subject areas tested by TCAP, including math, reading and science, so it does not provide a clear indication of the reading abilities of students in each of the categories. Tennessee's standards and grade categories are state-specific, but the combined percentage of students who score "below" and "approaching" is similar to the percentage who score Basic on National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) tests (NAEP does not divide its below-proficient category into two sets as Tennessee does). NAEP describes the skills that those who are at the Basic proficiency level in reading in fourth grade are nonetheless likely to display, making clear that "below proficient" is not the same as illiterate. The graphs below show how Tenneesee students have on performed on NAPE tests over the last five years.²



CHILDREN & YOUTH

In 2022, 59 percent of Tennessee fourthgraders scored at or above basic in reading while 30 percent scored at or above proficient.² On the next page we will outline some of skills the and understanding expected at each of these levels.

EDUCATION OUTCOMES

Students ranking below proficient still show reading ability and comprehension but are not as adept at using knowledge gained from reading in other contexts.

NAEP Basic³

When reading literary texts such as fiction, poetry, and literary nonfiction, fourth-grade students performing at the NAEP Basic level can likely

- determine the relevant meaning of familiar words using context within the same sentence or paragraph
- identify a specific detail to make a simple inference about the characters' actions, motivations, or feelings, using a single point or multiple points in the text if they are in close proximity
- sequence or categorize events from the story
- make a general reference to an appropriate section of the text or provide some support for ideas related to the plot or characters
- find meaning or provide evidence from one of the texts when making a comparison across texts
- identify explicit details from the text
- state an opinion with general support from one section of the text

When reading informational texts such as articles and excerpts from books, fourth-grade students performing at the NAEP Basic level can likely

- determine the relevant meaning of familiar words using context from a single section of the text
- locate a specific detail from the text and make simple inferences from one section of the text
- restate a problem or solution presented in a single section of the text
- provide a description of a text feature or author's craft using a general reference to the text
- provide an opinion using a general reference to the text

NAEP Proficient³

When reading literary texts such as fiction, poetry, and literary nonfiction, fourth-grade students performing at the NAEP Proficient level can likely

- determine the meaning of words using context from multiple sections of the text
- provide a reason why a particular detail is important to the story
- identify the key events to determine main idea and make complex inferences about the characters' actions, motivations, or feelings, using relevant evidence within or across texts
- describe the impact of a character's actions or explain how characters influence others
- recognize a text's structure and organization
- draw conclusions from single or multiple locations across a text and provide limited support from the text
- develop an opinion with relevant support from a text

When reading informational texts such as articles and excerpts from books, fourth-grade students performing at the NAEP Proficient level can likely

- determine the relevant meaning of words with multiple meanings
- use a specific detail from the text to make inferences or provide a description or an explanation about text features
- provide an opinion with relevant support from the text
- restate a problem or solution presented in a single section of the text
- describe, explain, or draw conclusions about text structures (e.g., compare and contrast, cause and effect, sequence and order)
- integrate ideas across a text to determine purpose and main idea





SUPPORT **SERVICES**

Addressing our state's youth mental health crisis requires getting children access to the support services they need.

56% OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS HAD ZERO OR ONE PSYCHOLOGICAL **PROFESSIONALS ON STAFF.**¹



IN THE 2021-2022 SCHOOL YEAR APPROXIMATELY

24 districts do not meet the goal of one certified counselor per 500 students.²

88% of school districts offered alternative breakfast programs.²

Out of 136 reporting districts, 84 percent reported they do not deny physical education as a form of punishment, a significant increase from 56 percent in 2020-21.²

In 2021-2022, public school districts employed 459 social workers. The previous year Tennessee public schools had an average daily attendance of 908.976 students.^{2,3}



While students attend school primarily to obtain an education, the need for social, emotional and physical support services at schools cannot be overstated

Aside from their homes, children spend more time at school than anywhere else. Behavioral, emotional or physical health conditions are often first identified in schools.

Half of all mental health conditions begin by age 14.⁵

Studies from 2016 revealed that one in six children in the U.S. had a mental health disorder. Approximately half did not receive treatment.⁵

Students are six times more likely to get evidence-based mental health treatment when it is offered in schools compared to other community settings.6

Schools that employ more mental health providers see:8

- Lower rates of suspension and

EARLY EDUCATION

The lack of affordable and accessible child care creates finanical and social stressors on many Tennessee families.

CHILD CARE BY THE NUMBERS

Cost of center-based child care in Tennessee by age¹ Infant: \$10,780 Toddler: \$9,998 4-Year-Old: \$8,759 Before/After School: \$2,937

Percent of infant care to median income of a single-parent family¹ 40.3 percent

Percent of infant care to median income of a married-couple family¹

12 percent

Percent of Tennessee parents of children under 5 reporting inadequate child care hurt their work productivity or career opportunities²

98 percent

Tennessee's economic losses in 2022 due to insufficient child care³

\$2.6 Billion

TN

Percent of Tennessee parents who have had pay or hours reduced or changed to part time due to child care challenges³ 35 percent

Tennessee parents that have turned down career advancement in the last 6 months due to child care³ challenges 32 percent

87 percent of Tennessee voters support increased state funding for Tennessee's voluntary Pre-K program to allow every 4-yearold the option to attend, if their parents want them to.⁴





\$19,539

types in the state.¹

\$10,764

Investing in our youngest Tennesseans means ensuring that early childhood education is accessible, affordable, and high-quality.

The cost of center-based care for an infant and 4-year-old in Tennessee is **81 percent higher** than the average annual rent across all housing

Accessible:

Among surveyed parents, accessibility was the most significant challenge in finding care for their child. Approximately 70 percent cited accessibility as the key challenge they face.³ In 2019, 48 percent of Tennesseans lived in a child care desert. Since then accessibility has been further impacted by the pandemic. Further, finding care for times outside of Monday-Friday daytime hours can be a significant hurdle many working families must overcome.

Affordable:

Close behind accessibility, affordability of care is a frequent challenge for Tennessee families with 58 percent citing it as their most significant challenge.³ High cost of child care can put it out of reach for many working families. Infant-based child care costs in 2022 were the equivalent of a minimum-wage worker's pretax income from January 1st to September 18th 2022.¹ For single parent at just over 150% FPL (\$13 per hour), it is equivalent to income from January 1st to May 23rd.¹

High-Quality:

Though less often cited than accessibility and affordability, half of Tennessee parents reported quality as their main challenge.³ Accreditation by The National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) is the gold standard for high-quality care. Only 1.5 percent of Tennessee's licensed or certified programs are NAEYC accredited.²

EARLY EDUCATION

Tennessee can expand programs to support young children and their caregivers.

The information on this page and the next comes from the Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center, at Vanderbilt University's Peabody College of Education and their Prenatal-to-3 State Policy Roadmap. Additional information can be found on their website at pn3policy.org

As discussed on the previous page, child care across the nation is extremely expensive and Tennessee is no exception. Child care subsidies provide financial assistance, through federal and state funds, to help with the costs associated with child care while a caregiver is working or enrolled in education or training programs. Tennessee has one of the higher income subsidy limits at 85% of State Median Income. States have significant control over how they administer these funds leading to various opportunities to increase access to care.

While Tennessee has expanded eligibility and increased the reimbursement rate for infants in center-based care by 32 percent, there continues to be opportunity to increase access to care by decreasing the co-payment and increasing the base reimbursement rate to meet or exceed the true cost of care, or at a minimum meet or exceed the 75th percentile. Eight states have a monthly co-payment of 0 percent of income for a family of 3 at 150% FPL.

Access to programs that support infants & families

Evidence-Based Home Visiting (EBHV)

Estimated % of eligible children under age 3 served in EBHV **2.5 percent**

Best State: 35.1 percent Worst State: 0.8 percent

Early Head Start

Estimated % of income-eligible children with access to Early Head Start **3.8 percent** Best State: 31.0 percent Worst State: 3.8 percent

Working Poverty

percent of children under 3 whoa re living near poverty with at least one parent working full-time **27.2 percent**

Best State: 9.2 percent Worst State: 33.2 percent



Reduced Administrative Burden for SNAP

% of eligible families with children under age 18 **not** receiving SNAP

2.0 percent

Best State: 2.0 percent Worst State: 26.7percent

Share of Child Care Costs

for an infant in center-based care paid by a family of 3 at 150 percent FPL **24.2 percent**

Best State: 0.0 percent Worst State: 54.8 percent

Health Coverage

percent of low-income women of childbearing age who do not have any health insurance

24.0 percent

Best State: 3.8 percent Worst State: 47.8 percent

EARLY EDUCATION

Tennessee's programmatic support for families ranks below most other states.

The information on this page and the pervious comes from the Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center, at Vanderbilt University's Peabody College of Education and their Prenatal-to-3 State Policy Roadmap. Additional information can be found on their website at pn3policy.org

The Impact of State Policy Choices on Family Resources Across States

Annual Minimum Wage Earnings (Minus Out of Pocket Child Care Expenses) Plus Federal and State Benefits

District of Columbia Vermont In the figure on Massachusetts the right, you can New Jersey California see the varying Washington dollar amount Hawaii available to families, Marvland Oregon contrasted with the New York cost of child care, Colorado depending on the Rhode Island Maine state they live in. New Mexico Illinois Arkansas **Increasing state** Virginia Florida minimum-wage, Connecticut South Dakota expanded income Michigan eligibility for health Ohio Nebraska insurance, paid Montana Nevada family leave, and Arizona a refundable state Minnesota Alaska earned income West Virginia tax credit are all Kansas Mississippi opportunities Delaware Louisiana for Tennessee to Alabama

increase support for

infants and families

across the state.



To the extent possible, data reflect state policies as of October 1, 2022. All earnings, benefits (both federal and state), and child care costs are based on a family of three comprised of a single parent working a full-time, minimum wage job with two children in full-time, center-based child care (an infant and a toddler). For detailed source notes and additional information see <u>Methods and Sources</u>.



HEALTH













OVERALL HEALTH

Pandemic-related delays in well-child visits led to a decline in the number of childhood vaccinations administered.

One in four Tennessee children has a mental, emotional, developmental or behavioral disorder.¹

20 percent of children in Tennessee live in a home where someone smokes.²

90 percent of children in Tennessee are reported to be in excellent or very good health.³

74 percent of Tennessee children 12-17 had a preventative medical visit in the last year.⁴

22 percent of Tennesseans 10-17 are obese, representing a slight increase from previous years and the 5th highest percentage in the country. ⁵

1 in 7 Tennessee K-12 students have a chronic illness or disability diagnosis.⁶ The most common are asthma, ADD/ ADHD and mental health diagnoses.⁶

CHILDHOOD VACCINATIONS

In 2021, **75 percent**

of Tennessee children had received the full series of recommended vaccines at 24 months.⁷

Tennessee has seen a decline in on-time childhood vaccinations over the last two years, highlighting a need for children to catch up on routine vaccinations they may have missed during the pandemic.

Between 2019 and 2021, 220,000 fewer doses of childhood vaccines were administered to Tennessee children.⁷

Healthy People 2020 (HP2020) was a national effort launched in 2010 with various science-based health objectives and goals for states to focus their action toward. HP2020 included 12 vaccination-related objectives. In 2019, Tennessee met three of the objectives. In 2020, the state met five, but fell back to three in 2021.⁷

Aside from an encouraging increase in doses of the Influenza and Hepatitis B vaccines, all other vaccination rates decreased between 2020 and 2021.⁷ In 2021, Tennessee fell below the HP2020 objective for polio vaccination for the first time in a decade.⁷





State Government

CHILDREN & YOUTH

MENTAL HEALTH

Although youth mental health challenges were increasing before the pandemic, it exacerbated many of these emerging problems.

TENNESSEE HAD 144 DEATHS BY SUICIDE AMONG THOSE UNDER 24 IN 2020, EQUATING TO 7,956 POTENTIAL YEARS OF LIFE LOST.²

Among high school students nationally, in the 12 months before the survey,³

one in five seriously considered taking their own life.

more than one in seven made a plan of how they would end their life.

one in 11 attempted to end their life.

Emergency room visits among adolescent girls

Between March and October of 2020, across all Emergency Department visits the proportion of visits of those aged 5-11 and 12-17 for mental health concerns increased by 24 percent and 31 percent respectively.⁴ A study comparing weekly emergency room department visits in 2020, 2021 and January 2022 to 2019 found the pandemic appeared to be particularly hard on the mental health of girls. Comparing weekly visits to those in 2019, researchers found increased visits among females age 12-17 in 2020 for eating disorders and tic disorders.⁴ In 2021, visits increased for depression, eating disorders, OCD, and tic disorders. By 2022, visits had increased for anxiety, trauma, stressor-related, eating disorders, OCD, and tic disorders.⁴ In general, adolescent males had a decrease in the number of mental health related visits during the same time frame.⁴ The study found the number of emergency department visits for eating disorders roughly tripled.⁴

This increase in eating disorders among adolescents is concerning due to the high mortality rate of eating disorders. Eating disorders have the one of highest mortality rates of any mental health condition.⁵ Youth and young adults between 15-24 who have anorexia have 10 times the risk of dying compared to their peers.⁵ A study of co-occuring disorders found among individuals hospitalized for an eating disorder, 97 percent had a co-condition.⁵ The most common co-occuring condition being mood disorders.⁵



SUBSTANCE USE

Youth substance use declined during the pandemic and appears to be staying below pre-pandemic levels for many substances.

Susbstance use among Tennesseans 12-17 has remained fairly consistent from 2015-2020.²



15% of students reported strongly agreeing or agreeing they drank more alcohol during the COVID-19 pandemic than when it started.³ 12% of students strongly agree or agree that

12% of students strongly agree or agree that they used drugs more during the COVID-19 pandemic than before it started.³

In 2021, one in 10 U.S. high school students reported ever taking prescription pain medicine without a doctors order or differently than instructed.³

While nationally the percent of students who smoke cigarettes or have ever tried cigarette smoking continues to decline, more than a third of students reported ever vaping.³ One in eighteen students reported vaping 20 or more days within the last month.³



Monitoring the Future, a national survey of substance use behaviors among 8th, 10th and 12th grade students provides insight into how the pandemic impacted teen substance use on a national level.¹

They found that use of cannabis, nicotine and alcohol all decreased during the pandemic.¹ Cannabis and nicotine use remained below pre-pandemic levels in 2022 while alcohol use returned back to 2020 levels.¹ The number of students who had used any illicit drug decreased during the pandemic and remained below pre-pandemic numbers in 2022^{.1} Non-prescribed use of Adderall increased back to pre-pandemic levels, but still represents a decline from 2015.1



RISK BEHAVIORS

For many teen risk behaviors, Tennessee has historically trended higher than the national average.

Did not always wear a seat belt (when riding in a car driven by someone else)

> Tennessee higher than national average

The Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey (ABES) was conducted among high schoolers in the U.S. during early to mid-2021.¹ Although, the results are not available on a state level, similar questions were asked in the 2019 Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System, which does offer Tennessee data.² Percentages below indicate national results of the ABES, the arrows indicate if Tennessee's percentage was higher or lower than the national average in 2019. If an arrow is not present, there is not a 2019 data point available.

Texted or e-mailed while driving a car or other vehicle (on at least 1 day during the 30 days before the survey, among students who had driven a car or other vehicle during the 30 days before the survey)

32 percent 4

34 percent ⁴

Tennessee higher than national average

Carried a gun

(not counting the days when they carried a gun only for hunting or for a sport such as target shooting, on at least 1 day during the 12 months before the survey)

3.5 percent

Tennessee higher than national average

Were in a physical fight

(one or more times during the 12 months before the survey)

16 percent 4

Tennessee higher than national average

Ever saw someone get physically attacked, beaten, stabbed, or shot in their neighborhood

One in five

Were electronically bullied

(counting being bullied through texting, Instagram, Facebook, or other social media, ever during the 12 months before the survey)

14 percent Tennessee lower

than national average

Were bullied on school property

(during the 12 months before the survey, among students who attended school in-person during the 12 months before the survey)

13 percent

Tennessee higher than national average

Did not go to school because they felt unsafe at school or on their way to or from school (on at least 1 day during the 30 days before the survey, among students who attended school in-person during the 30 days before the survey)

6.5 percent

Tennessee higher than national average

Carried a weapon on school property

(such as a gun, knife, or club, on at least 1 day during the 30 days before the survey, among students who attended school in-person during the 30 days before the survey)

3.3 percent





FOOD & Children's rapidly-developing brains and bodies make them particularly vulnerable to the negative impacts of food insecurity. NUTRITION 30% 27% Over the last decade, Tennessee has seen a decline in 25% 22% households with children experiencing food insecurity. 20%

Dropping from approximately one in four in 2011-2013 to one in eight in 2019-2021.²

2014 - 2016 2015 - 2017 2016 - 2018 2017 - 2019 2018 - 2020 2019 - 2021 2011 - 2013 2012 - 2014 2013 - 2015

> United States Tennessee

TENNESSEE IS ONE OF 12 STATES THAT STILL CHARGES TAXES ON GROCERIES.³

15% 10%

> 5% 0%

State	2020 Food Tax (State Rate)	2020 Food Tax (Weighted County Average)	2020 Total Food Tax (State & County)
KS	6.50%	1.13%	7.63%
MS	7.00%	NA	7.00%
TN	4.00%	2.47%	6.47%
ID	6.00%	NA	6.00%
AL	4.00%	1.97%	5.97%
ОК	4.50%	0.70%	5.20%
SD	4.50%	NA	4.50%
GA*	0.00%	3.32%	3.32%
МО	1.23%	1.99%	3.22%
UT	1.75%	1.25%	3.00%
LA*	0.00%	2.89%	2.89%
VA	1.50%	1.00%	2.50%
NC*	0.00%	2.00%	2.00%
IL	1.00%	0.71%	1.71%
AR	0.13%	1.39%	1.52%
AK*	0.00%	0.93%	0.93%
SC*	0.00%	0.74%	0.74%
СО	0.00%	0.25%	0.25%

Nearly one in five Tennessee children experienced food insecurity in 2020.¹

In August of 2022, Tennessee offered a grocery tax holiday, waiving the state sales tax on food and food ingredients. This monthlong reprieve saved the average Tennessean \$15 or \$45 for a family of 3.4



15%

Nationally, those in the lowest income bracket spend one fourth of their income on groceries. While those making above \$150,000 spend one twentieth.⁵

*Does not have a state-level tax, but permits counties and municipalities to levy a tax. Between September 14th-September 26th, 2022, 23 percent of Tennessee households with children reported sometimes or often not having enough to eat in the previous week.⁶ During that same time period 53 percent reported having difficulty paying for usual expenses.⁷ Nationally, those figures were 14 percent and 47 percent respectively. ^{6,7}





ACCESS TO **HEALTH CARE**

In 2020, 64 percent of uninsured children in Tennessee remained uninsured despite being eligible for coverage.^{1,2}

Ensuring parental health coverage and reducing administrative burdens could increase the number of Tennessee children with insurance.

In 2021, 4.9 percent of Tennesseans under 19 did not have health insurance.³ Of our youngest Tennesseans, those under 6, 3.8 were uninsured.³ Well-child visits and childhood vaccinations are critical to supporting long-term health and addressing any arising health challenges.

Many children in Tennessee are eligible for health insurance through TennCare or CoverKids yet remain uninsured. Ensuring those children eligible for coverage receive it and are able to access health care would improve Tennessee's individual, communal and statewide child health outcomes.

Initiatives that have been shown to increase children's health care coverage and participation MEDICAID EXPANSION

Tennessee is currently one of 11 states that have chosen not to expand Medicaid coverage to adults under 138% FPL.⁴ In 2021, approximately 170,000 uninsured Tennessee adults (19-64) fell below 138% FPL, comprising 37% of all uninsured adults.⁵

Children are more likely to have and maintain health care coverage when their parents are covered. In 2014, the ten states that experienced the largest gains in child health insurance participation had all expanded Medicaid.⁶

When parents have health insurance, children are more likely to receive the care they need and the preventative care that can avert further health complications and costs. A twelve-year study of low-income parent-child pairs found that when the parent was enrolled in Medicaid, the child had a 29-percentage point higher probability of receiving a well-child visit.⁷

CONTINUOUS ELIGIBILITY

Currently, all Medicaid recipients have been able to maintain coverage since the Public Health Emergency was declared in January 2020. The public health emergency is set to expire April 1, 2023 leaving many Tennesseans vulnerable to coverage loss. In December of 2022, the federal government passed a bill requiring their government programs, state medicaid programs to provide 12 months of continuous coverage for children.

Tennessee currently has 12-month continuous eligibility for CoverKids, allowing children in that program to maintain health care coverage despite temporary changes in parental income.

EXPRESS LANE ENROLLMENT (ELE)

Between 2019 and 2020, a Vanderbilt Child Health Poll found that over a third of parents reporting a loss of children's health coverage attributed that loss to a paperwork issue.¹⁰

ELE works to streamline the application process for Medicaid/CHIP as many eligible families are often already receiving other means-tested programs such as WIC, TANF, or SNAP. ELE allows states to use information from these programs to determine eligibility or renewal.¹¹

This flexibility allows states to more efficiently coordinate leading to administrative and program savings while ensuring that children who are eligible for health care gain or maintain necessary coverage.¹²

Currently children covered by TennCare do not have this assurance and are more vulnerable to loss of coverage, commonly referred to as "Medicaid Churn."⁸ A study of households with low or moderate income found "they experienced an average of 2.5 months each year in which income fell by more than 25 percent, and 2.6 months in which income increased by 25 percent."^{8,9}

The expansion of continuous eligibility to children on TennCare will help ensure all children across the state get the health care they need when they need it.





MATERNAL MORTALITY

Tennessee saw an uptick in maternal mortality between 2019 and 2020.

All data comes from the Tennessee Maternal Mortality Report¹ Pregnancy-associated deaths: The death of a woman during pregnancy or within one year of the end of prégnancy from any cause. Pregnancy-associated deaths can further be classified into pregnancy-related deaths or pregnancy-associated, but not related deaths.

The number of deaths increased from 63 in 2019 to 98 in 2020.

Comparing 2020 to 2019, the Pregnancy-Associated Mortality Ratio increased by 51 percent. This is attributed an increase in deaths and a change in definitions.

Compared to 2019, the percent of deaths occurring between conception and 12-months postpartum that were directly caused as a result of being pregnant increased by 27 percent.



90 percent of pregnancy-related deaths between 2017-2020 were determined to have been preventable.

The leading cause of pregnancy-related deaths was cardiovascular or coronary conditions.

For pregnancy-associated, but not related deaths acute overdose was the leading cause.

More than half of pregnancy-associated deaths occurred 43-365 days after birth. During this time



COVID-19 DEATHS

■ 2020 ■ 2019 **■** 2018 **■** 2017

In 5 of the 98 deaths the individual had a positive COVID-19 test within the previous 12 months. In three of the cases, COVID-19 was the leading underlying factor of death. In the remaining two cases it was listed as contributing factor.

MATERNAL HEALTH DISPARITIES

Black women in Tennessee are 2.5x more likely to die from a pregnancy-related cause than white women

Discrimination was a contributing factor to 1 out of 3 pregnancy-related deaths in 2020.

When discrimination was noted, overdose was the leading cause of death. Fear of legal consequences, lack of referral and delay in diagnosis and treatment were noted as contributing factors.

HEALTH INSURANCE

Seven out of 10 pregnancy-associated deaths were among women covered by TennCare at the time of birth. Roughly half of pregnancy-related deaths were among women covered by TennCare. In April 2022, TennCare extended maternal health coverage from 60 days to 12 months postbirth. Since the beginning of the federal Public Health Emergency in January 2020, individuals on Medicaid have been able to retain their coverage.





Administered since 2007, the mPINC measures the quality of hospital practices to support breastfeeding. In addition to hospitals receiving individual scores, each state receives it's own score. Scores range from 0 to 100 with higher scores indicating better maternity practices within the state's birthing hospitals. In 2020, Tennessee had the lowest score in the nation at 70. As a whole, the united states was 81.⁴

Teen Births



Neonatal Withdrawal Syndrome

Since a peak in 2017, the rate of infants born exposed to substances was on the decline in 2018 and 2019.⁶ In 2020, coinciding with the pandemic, Tennessee saw a increase in the rate of cases. The most frequent substance infants are exposed to is medication used for opioid use disorder (MOUD), representing 62 percent of cases in 2020.⁶

Although it can result in withdrawal, MOUD is the safest option to address opioid use disorder during pregnancy and is recommended by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.⁷ Quickly stopping use can result in preterm labor or miscarriage.⁸ MOUD improves birth outcomes and decreases the chances of a preterm birth.⁸

Women with opioid use disorder (OUD) face many barriers to treatment, pregnancy status being one of them.⁹ In one study, callers representing pregnant women were 17 percent less likely to be granted an appointment with an OUD treatment clinician.⁹ MOUD is a critical element to improving outcomes for Tennessee infants and parents with OUD and mitigating potential negative effects. Particularly, as we move forward out of the pandemic, Tennessee must ensuring care for pregnant women with OUD is affordable, accessible, comprehensive and collaborative.





	DENT CAI	TAL RE	Tenne progra	essee am ra	's Co anks	omn amo	nunity ong t	y Water Fluoridation he best in the country				
27.0%	There ha	s been a slig	ht, likely					Mara than 9 out of 10				
26.0%	pandem	of Tennesse	crease in the e children who	2			26.2%	Tennessee children (1-17)				
25.0%	did not h	ave a preve	ntative dental		25.4%			reported no oral health				
24.0%	care visit	it within the last 12 months. ¹⁻⁵			proplems.° Among those							
23.0%	23.6%		23.7%					common was tooth decay or				
22.0%		23.0%						cavities followed by toothaches and bleeding gums. ⁷⁻⁹				
21.0%	2016-17	2017-18	3 2018-19	2	2019-20		2020-21					

The rate of preventative care closely aligns with the 77 percent of Tennessee parents who report their children's teeth are in excellent or very good condition.¹⁰

One of the challenges Tennessee faces is the ratio of dental care providers to the population. Tennessee ranks 45th in the nation with 48.8 providers per 100,000.¹¹ Nationally that rate is 62.3.¹¹

To meet the current standard, Tennessee will need an estimated 700 additional dentists.¹¹ Access to dental care is a critical component to child, maternal and adult health but Tennessee had six counties without a dentist and 86 designated as a Dental Health Professional Shortage Area.¹¹

Beginning in January 2023, all adults with TennCare coverage will be eligible for dental care. This is an important step in improving access to care for all Tennesseans. This expanded coverage has the potential to increase demand on an already strained system. As of October 2022, there were 732,678 adults 21 to 65 years old enrolled in TennCare who will likely be eligible for dental benefits beginning January 2023.¹³

Community Water Fluoridation

Tennessee has been an historical leader in community water fluoridation with 95 percent of Tennesseans receiving optimally fluoridated water in 2004, ranking 5th in the nation.¹¹ Since then, Tennessee has slightly declined to 89 percent and 17th in rank, but remains significantly above the nation in the portion of the community receiving optimally fluoridated water.¹¹

"Community water fluoridation is the most effective and economical way to prevent tooth decay for all ages delivering benefits to everyone in a community, regardless of their age, income, or education. Over 75 years of scientific evidence has consistently shown that community water fluoridation both safe and effective with studies proving that water fluoridation reduces dental decay by 20 to 40 percent." - Tennessee Department of Health¹¹

TN State Government



NEARLY NINE OUT OF 10

Tennesseans are served by Community Water Fluoridation.¹¹

is

CHILD WELFARE & YOUTH JUSTICE











CHILD WELFARE

After traumatic events such as abuse or neglect, our child welfare system should act as a safegaurd, caring for all of the child's needs while preventing further trauma.

In FY2021 Tennessee had:

- 157,108 Tennessee Child Abuse Hotline reports.¹
- 70,486 CPS investigation and assessment hotline cases.¹

In FY2022 Tennessee had:²

5,415 substantiated cases of child abuse or neglect. ^{5,000}

Safe, stable and nurturing homes help support child development. Being removed from their home can be potentially traumatic for a child, making the need for our child welfare system to be actively working against re-traumatization critical. Reducing the number of placements and the time in state custody can help in minimizing the trauma a child experiences.

Nearly one in 10 children were in custody for more than two years. In 2020, one in five children entering foster care were reentering care after a prior episode.³ One in eight were reentering care o after less than 12 months.³



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2021 rate based on 2020 population data

A comptroller audit of DCS reported several challenges facing the department, particularly a high level of turnover and case counts well above Tennessee's existing case load laws. In FY 2022, statewide turnover was 56 percent.⁴ In the Davidson county regional office, turnover climbed to 127 percent.⁴ First year case managers had a 97 percent turnover rate. In May 2022, 37 percent of Case Managers had over 20 cases.⁴ In May 2022, the maximum number of cases assigned to a case manager was 108. Davidson county's regional average at that time was 41.5 cases.⁴



Tennessee has had the highest rate of foster care instability in the nation every year from 2016-2020.⁵ In 2020, Puerto Rico had the closest instability rate at 25.9 percent compared to Tennessee's 33.7 percent.⁵

YOUTH TRANSITIONS

Supporting our youth as they age out of the foster care system can help set them up for long-term success.

One in five foster youth in Tennessee are between the ages of 16-20.¹

The percent of older youth in foster care varies widely across the states, partially due to 17 states not having extended foster care eligibility.² At the low end, some states have rates of 6 and 8 percent. Delaware, Colorado, Virginia, Connecticut and Tennessee have the largest percent of older youth ranging from 21 to 25 percent.¹

Acceptance of Extension of Foster Care Services has been steadily increasing since it's inception.³



Outcomes from other states²

In Tennessee, young adults who age out of the foster care system are eligible for Extension of Foster Care services until they turn 21. Through this program they can receive:³

- Education and Training Vouchers (up to \$5,000 a year) for post-secondary education
- Placement support in an approved placement or an Independent Living Allowance
- Independent Living Wrap-Around
 Services
- Access to life skills classes and leadership opportunities
- Support of a child and family team, Family Service Worker and court representatives to help achieve goals.

In FY2021 Tennessee had 801 youth age out of foster care.³

Of those 801, 680 were eligible for Extension of Foster Care Services (EFCS).³ Of those eligible, 44 percent accepted EFCS.³

A study comparing outcomes from youth who remained in foster care at 19 compared to 19-year-old youth in neighboring states required to leave care at 18 found:

Among those aging out at 18:

- 1-in-5 were experiencing homelessness and 36 percent had experienced homelessness at least once by age 26;
- Only 46 percent of youth were employed; and
- Their average income at 26 was \$18,323 lower than youth in the general population, \$13,989 compared to \$32,312.

Among those remaining in care:

- The odds of being employed or in high school at 19 were doubled;
- They were twice as likely to have completed their first year of college by 21; and
- Pregnancies occurring before age 20 by were reduced by 38 percent.

\$72,000 estimated increase in per-person lifetime earnings by extending foster care





DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Tennessee children and teens are exposed to an alarming rate of domestic violence.

population and 41 percent of stepchild/child victims.¹

Children were more than one in ten Tennessee domestic violence victims in 2021.¹

Children and young adults (0-24) were 29 percent of domestic violence victims in Tennessee. ¹

8.6 percent of all reported domestic violence victims were youth whose offender was their parent or step-parent.¹

In 2019, more than

ONE IN SIX

Tennessee high school girls reported experiencing physical dating violence in the last year.^{3**}

That was significantly higher than anywhere else in the nation and nearly twice as high as the national rate.³

The highest rates were among 11th grade girls at 20 percent.³



One in 16 reported physical dating violence.** More than half reported that a

- parent or other adult in their home swore at them, insulted them, or put them down during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- One in nine reported that a parent or other adult in their home hit, beat, kicked, or physically hurt them in any way during the COVID-19 pandemic.

* One or more times during the 12 months before the survey

** One or more times during the 12 months before the survey, among students who dated or went out with someone during the 12 months before the survey.

If you or someone you know is experiencing domestic violence free, confidential support can be found at thehotline.org, by texting "START" to 88788, or calling the Tennessee Domestic Violence Helpline: 1-800-356-6767



The most common cases of domestic violence involving children occurred with a white female child and their parent, but Black children make up roughly 21 percent of the

schoolers reported
experiencing sexual violence.*
One in 13 reported sexual dating violence.**
One in 16 reported

Nearly one in 10 high

ABES survey results from 2021 indicate²



TENNESSEE COMMISSION ON CHILDREN & YOUTH

HUMAN TRAFFICKING

The most common scenario among victims of sex-trafficking is that they know and trust their trafficker. In 2020, 42 percent were recruited by a family member.

Age at entry into exploitation by type



Unknown Minor Adult

"Age at Entry into Exploitation" refers to the age of likely victims when the first commercial sex act or the first time initiating labor/services occurred. Given the significance of whether a likely victim is an adult or minor, if the actual age is unknown and the apparent age is close to the adult/minor boundary (ex. a likely victim is described as being 16-20), Unknown is selected.



Numbers represent the number of cases. Each case can have multiple victims. In 2021, Tennessee had 152 identified cases from the Human Trafficking Hotline and 217 victims.

As many aspects of our world adapted to the pandemic, unfortunately so did exploitation and human trafficking. Numbers of human trafficking cases reported to the national hotline remained steady throughout 2020 while the reported means of recruitment shifted to match an increasingly virtual world.¹

Nationally, reported human trafficking recruitment online increased by 22 percent in 2020.¹ During pandemic shutdowns, there was a significant drop in many common recruitment venues. Recruitment from strip clubs dropped by 46 percent, foster homes by 70 percent and schools by 38 percent.¹

While those venues decreased, we saw a rise in recruitment via social media platforms. The number of reports of recruitment through Facebook and Instagram increased 125 percent and 95 percent respectively compared to 2019.¹ Numbers from 2021 indicate that these changes may have been pandemic-related, as we have seen a shift back to 2019 recruitment trends.

Nonetheless, the longstanding fact that most victims know and trust their trafficker remained true. In 2020, trafficking by family members or caregivers increased from 21 to 31 percent. Recruitment by intimate partners increased to 27 percent.¹ Among victims of sex trafficking, recruitment by a family member or intimate partners is even more common; 42 percent were recruited by a family member and 39 percent by an intimate partner.¹

Reporting has shown that nearly every victim has a vulnerability that is taken advantage of by the trafficker.¹ Reducing instances of trafficking requires shoring up social supports and addressing the inadequacies in our current systems that leave people vulnerable.

2020 TOP FIVE RISK FACTORS/VULNERABILITIES

- SEX TRAFFICKING -
- 1. Substance Use Concern
- 2. Runaway/Homeless Youth
- **3.Unstable Housing**
- 4. Mental Health Concern
- 5. Recent Migration/Relocation





LABOR TRAFFICKING -

- 1. Recent Migration/Relocation
- 2. Self-reported Economic Hardship
- 3. Unstable Housing
- 4. Criminal Record/Criminal History
- 5. Substance Use Concern

If you suspect someone is being trafficked, call the Tennessee Human Trafficking Hotline at (855) 558-6484.

SUSPENSION & EXPULSION

While there has been a decline in suspensions and expulsions since 2018-19, we will have to wait to evaluate if this is an impact of the pandemic or representative of alternative discipline practices.



Tennessee has seen a decline in expulsions and out-of-school suspensions since the 2018-19 school year.¹ Data from the 2021-2022 school year, which is not yet available, will provide better insight into whether this

decline is due to implementation of alternative discipline methods that allow student to remain academically engaged or if this decline is correlated to pandemic-related virtual learning. Students who are suspended or expelled face negative outcomes, such as being 10 times more likely to drop out of high school.² Students who have been suspended are more likely to be arrested in the future.² Research of middle school suspensions found no evidence that more exclusionary disciplinary practices reduced behavioral future incidents.³ The students who received outof-school suspensions were more likely to be suspended again and miss more days due to suspensions than those who had received in-school-suspension.³ When these suspensions or expulsions happen earlier on in a child's education, it can have compounding effects.



Between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school year, the number of LEAs with policies that do not permit the use of corporal punishment increased from 25 to 46 representing roughly 34 percent of students.⁶ In the 2020-21 school year there were

For the last 22 years, American Academy of Pediatrics has recommended that "corporal punishment in schools be abolished in all states by law and that alternative forms of student behavior management be used."⁷

Among LEAs reporting instances of corporal punishment in 2020-21, the average rate was 10.25 instances per 1,000 students.⁷ The most frequent occurrence in an LEA was 142 per 1,000 and the least frequent .24 per 1,000.⁷





Number of instances 504 instances with a child with a 504/IEP Comparison between years should not be made due to varying number of LEAs reporting and pandemic-related out of school time.

YOUTH JUSTICE

Supporting a successful transition home after detention is an important responsibility of our youth justice system.

Supporting a child as they return to their community after detention is a critical part of a successful youth justice system. Consistent wrap-around services that draw on the child's family, school and community strengths can be the difference that prevents further involvement with the justice system. After its most recent performance audit of the Department of Children's Services, the Comptroller's office reports some improvement in this area, but there is still room to expand supports during these key transitions to set all Tennessee children up for future success.

The figure below is from the Comptroller's Audit Report.¹ Current audit findings are shown in blue shades and are compared to previous audit findings shown in green. While the chart clearly shows improvement, in 53 percent of probation cases reviewed the juvenile justice caseworker still did not make the required number of contacts with the child's parent/legal guardian based on the child's level of supervision.¹ Engaging the family or caregivers in a child's rehabilitation is a key component to ensuring children are supported and engaged in their communities.



0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Annotations are from the Comptroller's office and can be found on the reference page. ■ Aftercare Supervision - Current Audit ■ Aftercare Supervision - Prior Audit ■ Probation - Current Audit ■ Probation - Prior Audit

The expected contacts in probation/aftercare are listed below: ¹

Probation/Aftercare

- 3 face-to-face visits in the first 30 days with 1 being in the home
- 1 face-to-face visit per month in the home
- 1 contact with the parent/legal custodian per month
- 1 contact with school officials per month
- 1 contact with service providers per month





- Intensive Probation/Aftercare
- 3 face-to-face visits in the first 30 days
- with 1 being in the home
 3 face-to-face visits per month with 1 being in the home
- 2 contacts with the parent/legal custodians per month
- 1 contact with school officials per month
- 1 contact with service providers per month

YOUTH JUSTICE

Tennessee has seen a significant decrease in community-based placements over the last four years.

Each year, at the beginning of April, the Department of Children's Services takes a one-day snapshot of where children in DCS custody as delinquent cases are placed. Although this represents just one day out of the year, it gives us an idea of how we are choosing to house and rehabilitate our youth who have entered the justice system.

Additionally since we have several years of one-day snapshots, we can compare trends over time.²⁻⁷ In 2018, 74 percent of our youth were in community placements and 14 percent were in Youth Development Centers (YDC).5 Now, the percentage of youth in community placements has dropped to 38 percent and the percentage of youth in YDCs or hardware secure facilities has increased to 22 percent.² This change represents a 48 percent decrease in community placements and a 52 percent increase in hardware secure/YDC placements.



■ Community Placement ■ Youth Development Centers ■ JJ Enhanced/Staff Secure ■ Jail/Detention ■ Runaway ■ Other

Maintaining connections to their family and community is a critical component of the rehabilitation of youth. Engaging the family and community as a partner has been shown to help reduce recidivism.⁸ This becomes extremely challenging when youth are placed in facilities across the state, or even out of state. In September 2022, DCS had 371 children placed out of state.² While travel to out-of-state detention facilities presents more obvious challenges, similar challenges arise when family members cannot afford the time or resources to travel across the state to visit their child.

Community placements with a wide array of services should be readily available for any child in need, with detention as a last resort. When detention is necessary small community-based facilities with extensive treatment should be used. Research has shown that the negative impact of institutionalization is more likely to affect adolescents at low risk for re-offending.⁹



Abbreviations & Definitions

ABES – Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey

It is the first nationally representative look at the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the health of our nation's youth. It was funded through the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. Findings are detailed in five articles in the MMWR Surveillance Supplement. ABES was a 110-question online survey completed by US high school students in early-mid 2021. ABES found that the COVID-19 pandemic affected youth in a number of areas.

ACEs- Adverse Childhood Experiences Survey

The CDC-Kaiser Permanente adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study is one of the largest investigations of childhood abuse and neglect and household challenges and later-life health and well-being. The original ACE study was conducted at Kaiser Permanente from 1995 to 1997 with two waves of data collection. Over 17,000 Health Maintenance Organization members from Southern California receiving physical exams completed confidential surveys regarding their childhood experiences and current health status and behaviors.

ACS – American Community Survey

The American Community Survey (ACS) is a demographics survey program conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau. It regularly gathers information previously contained only in the long form of the decennial census, such as ancestry, citizenship, educational attainment, income, language proficiency, migration, disability, employment, and housing characteristics. Sent to approximately 295,000 addresses monthly (or 3.5 million per year), it is the largest household survey that the Census Bureau administers.

2021 ACS 1-year Supplemental Estimates are based on data collected from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, and they are available for geographic areas with populations of 20,000 or more.

DCS – Tennessee Department of Children's Services

FPL – Federal Poverty Line

The Census Bureau determines poverty status by using an official poverty measure (OPM) that compares pre-tax cash income against a threshold that is set at three times the cost of a minimum food diet in 1963 (in current year prices) and adjusted for family size. See the federal poverty guidelines chart on the next page for this years' thresholds.

IEP – Individualized Education Plan

An Individualized Education Plan (or Program) is also known as an IEP. This is a plan or program developed to ensure that a child with an identified disability who is attending an elementary or secondary educational institution receives specialized instruction and related services. The IEP is developed by a team of individuals from various educational disciplines, the child with a disability, family members, and/or designated advocates.

NAEP - The National Assessment of Educational Progress

The National Assessment of Educational Progress provides important information about student achievement and learning experiences in various subjects. Also known as The Nation's Report Card, NAEP has provided meaningful results to improve education policy and practice since 1969. Results are available for the nation, states, and 27 urban districts

SNAP – Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, is a federal program that provides nutrition benefits to low-income individuals and families that are used at stores to purchase food. The program is administered by the USDA Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) through its nationwide network of FNS field offices.

SPM – Supplemental Poverty Measure

The Supplemental Poverty Measure (SPM) is a measure of economic deprivation—having insufficient financial resources to achieve a specified standard of living. The SPM addresses some of the limitations of the official poverty measure, without supplanting it outright.

Both the SPM and the official measure determine the poverty status of people and families by comparing their financial resources against poverty thresholds that are valued in dollars. For both measures, poverty thresholds vary by family size and composition, and families whose resources are lower than the thresholds are considered to be poor. The measures differ in their definitions of

- need, as it is used in the thresholds (the dollar amounts used to determine poverty status),
- financial resources that are considered relevant for comparing against the measure of need as specified in the thresholds, and
- family, for the purpose of assigning thresholds and counting resources.

TANF – Temporary Assistance for Needy Families

The TANF program, which is time limited, assists families with children when the parents or other responsible relatives cannot provide for the family's basic needs. The Federal government provides grants to States to run the TANF program. These State TANF programs are designed to accomplish four goals:

- 1. to provide assistance to needy families so that children may be cared for in their own homes or in the homes of relatives;
- 2. to end the dependency of needy parents on government benefits by promoting job preparation, work, and marriage;
- 3. to prevent and reduce the incidence of out-of-wedlock pregnancies and establish annual numerical goals for preventing and reducing the incidence of these pregnancies; and
- 4. to encourage the formation and maintenance of two-parent families.

States have broad flexibility to carry out their programs. The States, not the Federal government, decide on the design of the program, the type and amount of assistance payments, the range of other services to be provided, and the rules for determining who is eligible for benefits.

TCAP - Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program

Tennessee Comprehensive Assessment Program (TCAP) has been the state's testing program since 1988, and it includes TCAP assessments in math, English language arts, social studies, and science, as well as alternative assessments, like MSAA and TCAP-Alt, for students with special needs.

WIC- The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children

The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) has provided food, food vouchers, and nutritional support and education for pregnant women and mothers of infants since 1974. About half the infants born in the United States benefit from WIC. WIC is administered by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA), which also runs school lunch and breakfast programs.

YRBS – Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System

The Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS) monitors six categories of health-related behaviors that contribute to the leading causes of death and disability among youth and adults. YRBSS is a system of surveys. It include a national school-based survey conducted by CDC and state, territorial, tribal and local surveys conducted by state, territorial, and local education and health agencies and tribal governments. The most recent published results are from surveys conducted in 2019. Data from 2021 is expected soon.

Poverty Guidelines, 48 Contiguous States (all states except AK and HI)

2021 Annual

Family Size	25%	50%	75%	100%	125%	133%	135%	138%	150%	175%	180%	185%	200%	225%	250%
1	\$3,220	\$6,440	\$9,660	\$12,880	\$16,100	\$17,130	\$17,388	\$17,774	\$19,320	\$22,540	\$23,184	\$23,828	\$25,760	\$28,980	\$32,200
2	\$4,355	\$8,710	\$13,065	\$17,420	\$21,775	\$23,169	\$23,517	\$24,040	\$26,130	\$30,485	\$31,356	\$32,227	\$34,840	\$39,195	\$43,550
3	\$5,490	\$10,980	\$16,470	\$21,960	\$27,450	\$29,207	\$29,646	\$30,305	\$32,940	\$38,430	\$39,528	\$40,626	\$43,920	\$49,410	\$54,900
4	\$6,625	\$13,250	\$19,875	\$26,500	\$33,125	\$35,245	\$35,775	\$36,570	\$39,750	\$46,375	\$47,700	\$49,025	\$53,000	\$59,625	\$66,250
5	\$7,760	\$15,520	\$23,280	\$31,040	\$38,800	\$41,283	\$41,904	\$42,835	\$46,560	\$54,320	\$55,872	\$57,424	\$62,080	\$69,840	\$77,600
6	\$8,895	\$17,790	\$26,685	\$35,580	\$44,475	\$47,321	\$48,033	\$49,100	\$53,370	\$62,265	\$64,044	\$65,823	\$71,160	\$80,055	\$88,950
7	\$10,030	\$20,060	\$30,090	\$40,120	\$50,150	\$53,360	\$54,162	\$55,366	\$60,180	\$70,210	\$72,216	\$74,222	\$80,240	\$90,270	\$100,300
8	\$11,165	\$22,330	\$33,495	\$44,660	\$55 <i>,</i> 825	\$59,398	\$60,291	\$61,631	\$66,990	\$78,155	\$80,388	\$82,621	\$89,320	\$100,485	\$111,650
9	\$12,300	\$24,600	\$36,900	\$49,200	\$61,500	\$65,436	\$66,420	\$67,896	\$73,800	\$86,100	\$88,560	\$91,020	\$98,400	\$110,700	\$123,000
10	\$13,435	\$26,870	\$40,305	\$53,740	\$67,175	\$71,474	\$72,549	\$74,161	\$80,610	\$94,045	\$96,732	\$99,419	\$107,480	\$120,915	\$134,350
11	\$14,570	\$29,140	\$43,710	\$58,280	\$72 <i>,</i> 850	\$77,512	\$78,678	\$80,426	\$87,420	\$101,990	\$104,904	\$107,818	\$116,560	\$131,130	\$145,700
12	\$15,705	\$31,410	\$47,115	\$62,820	\$78,525	\$83,551	\$84,807	\$86,692	\$94,230	\$109,935	\$113,076	\$116,217	\$125,640	\$141,345	\$157,050
13	\$16,840	\$33,680	\$50,520	\$67,360	\$84,200	\$89,589	\$90,936	\$92,957	\$101,040	\$117,880	\$121,248	\$124,616	\$134,720	\$151,560	\$168,400
14	\$17,975	\$35,950	\$53,925	\$71,900	\$89,875	\$95,627	\$97,065	\$99,222	\$107,850	\$125,825	\$129,420	\$133,015	\$143,800	\$161,775	\$179,750

2021 Monthly

Household/															
Family Size	25%	50%	75%	100%	125%	133%	135%	138%	150%	175%	180%	185%	200%	225%	250%
1	\$268	\$537	\$805	\$1,073	\$1,342	\$1,428	\$1,449	\$1,481	\$1,610	\$1,878	\$1,932	\$1,986	\$2,147	\$2,415	\$2,683
2	\$363	\$726	\$1,089	\$1,452	\$1,815	\$1,931	\$1,960	\$2,003	\$2,178	\$2,540	\$2,613	\$2,686	\$2,903	\$3,266	\$3,629
3	\$458	\$915	\$1,373	\$1,830	\$2,288	\$2,434	\$2,471	\$2,525	\$2,745	\$3,203	\$3,294	\$3 <i>,</i> 386	\$3,660	\$4,118	\$4,575
4	\$552	\$1,104	\$1,656	\$2,208	\$2,760	\$2,937	\$2,981	\$3,048	\$3,313	\$3,865	\$3,975	\$4,085	\$4,417	\$4,969	\$5,521
5	\$647	\$1,293	\$1,940	\$2,587	\$3,233	\$3,440	\$3,492	\$3,570	\$3 <i>,</i> 880	\$4,527	\$4,656	\$4,785	\$5,173	\$5,820	\$6,467
6	\$741	\$1,483	\$2,224	\$2,965	\$3,706	\$3,943	\$4,003	\$4,092	\$4,448	\$5,189	\$5,337	\$5,485	\$5,930	\$6,671	\$7,413
7	\$836	\$1,672	\$2,508	\$3,343	\$4,179	\$4,447	\$4,514	\$4,614	\$5,015	\$5,851	\$6,018	\$6,185	\$6,687	\$7,523	\$8,358
8	\$930	\$1,861	\$2,791	\$3,722	\$4,652	\$4,950	\$5,024	\$5,136	\$5,583	\$6,513	\$6,699	\$6 <i>,</i> 885	\$7,443	\$8,374	\$9,304
9	\$1,025	\$2,050	\$3,075	\$4,100	\$5,125	\$5,453	\$5,535	\$5,658	\$6,150	\$7,175	\$7,380	\$7,585	\$8,200	\$9,225	\$10,250
10	\$1,120	\$2,239	\$3,359	\$4,478	\$5,598	\$5,956	\$6,046	\$6,180	\$6,718	\$7,837	\$8,061	\$8,285	\$8,957	\$10,076	\$11,196
11	\$1,214	\$2,428	\$3,643	\$4,857	\$6,071	\$6,459	\$6,557	\$6,702	\$7,285	\$8,499	\$8,742	\$8,985	\$9,713	\$10,928	\$12,142
12	\$1,309	\$2,618	\$3,926	\$5,235	\$6,544	\$6,963	\$7,067	\$7,224	\$7,853	\$9,161	\$9,423	\$9 <i>,</i> 685	\$10,470	\$11,779	\$13,088
13	\$1,403	\$2,807	\$4,210	\$5,613	\$7 <i>,</i> 017	\$7,466	\$7,578	\$7,746	\$8,420	\$9,823	\$10,104	\$10,385	\$11,227	\$12,630	\$14,033
14	\$1,498	\$2,996	\$4,494	\$5,992	\$7,490	\$7,969	\$8,089	\$8,269	\$8,988	\$10,485	\$10,785	\$11,085	\$11,983	\$13,481	\$14,979

References

Demographics

- 1.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center.(2022). 2021 child population by single age. Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/100-child-population-by-singleage?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2048/42,43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,57,58,59, 60,61/418
- 2.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center.(2022). 2021 Population by birth cohort generation and race and ethnicity in Tennessee. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/11504-population-by-birth-cohort-generation-and-race-and-ethnicity?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2048,574,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868/8123,8124,8 125,8126,8127]4038,4040,4039,2638,2597,4758,1353/22695,22696</u>
- 3.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center.(2022). 2021 children in immigrant families by parent's region of origin in Tennessee . Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/5923-children-in-immigrant-families-by-parents-region-of-origin?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2048,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867/1767,1768,176 9,1770/12549,12550</u>
- 4.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center.(2022). 2021 children in immigrant families. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/115-children-in-immigrant-families?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2048,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867/any/445,446</u>
- 5.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center.(2022). 2021 children who speak a language other than English at home. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/81-children-who-speak-a-language-other-than-english-at-</u> home?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2048,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867/any/396,397
- 6.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table C07401, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=geographic+mobility+in+the+past+year&g=0400000US47&tid=ACSDT</u> 1Y2021.C07401
- 7.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table CS0901, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from:

https://data.census.gov/table?q=child+characteristics&g=0400000US47&tid=ACSST1Y2021.S0901

- 8.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table B09018, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=children+by+relationship+to+householder&g=0400000US47&tid=ACS</u> <u>DT1Y2021.B09018</u>
- 9.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table S1810, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: https://data.census.gov/table?q=Disability&g=0400000US47&tid=ACSST1Y2021.S1810
- 10.) IEP

Special Topics

Resilient Communities

 Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9573&r=44&r2=1</u>

- 2.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9570&r=44</u>
- 3.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9526&r=44
- 4.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9570&r=44
- 5.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9527&r=44
- 6.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9528&r=44

Childhood Adversity

- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey</u>
- 2.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9529&r=44</u>
- 3.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9529&r=44&r2=1
- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9529&r=44&g=1009
- 5.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S.

Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9529&r=44&g=1017

- 6.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9529&r=44&g=1002
- 7.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9622&r=44&r2=1
- 8.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9531&r=44
- 9.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9532&r=44
- 10.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9533&r=44&r2=1
- 11.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9534&r=44&r2=1
- 12.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9536&r=44</u>
- 13.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9537&r=44</u>
- 14.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9623&r=44

https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9538&r=44

- 16.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?g=9539&r=44&r2=1
- 17.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9535&r=44
- 18.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9530&r=44

Family-Friendly Policies

- 1.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022). National Compensation Survey March 2022. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/benefits/2022/home.htm
- 2.) Appelbaum, E., & Milkman, R. (2015). Leaves that pay: Employer and worker experiences with paid family leave in California. EPRN.
- 3.) Cleveland Clinic .(2022). Benefits of breastfeeding. Retrieved from: https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/articles/15274-the-benefits-of-breastfeeding-for-baby--for-mom
- 4.) Stearns, J. (2015). The effects of paid maternity leave: Evidence from Temporary Disability Insurance. Journal of Health Economics, 43, 85-102.
- 5.) Khan M. S. (2020). Paid family leave and children health outcomes in OECD countries. Children and youth services review, 116, 105259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105259
- 6.) Klevens, J., Luo, F., Xu, L., Peterson, C., & Latzman, N. E. (2016). Paid family leave's effect on hospital admissions for pediatric abusive head trauma. Injury prevention, 22(6), 442-445.
- 7.) Jou, J., Kozhimannil, K. B., Abraham, J. M., Blewett, L. A., & McGovern, P. M. (2018). Paid Maternity Leave in the United States: Associations with Maternal and Infant Health. Maternal and child health journal, 22(2), 216–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2393-x</u>
- Kornfeind, K. R., & Sipsma, H. L. (2018). Exploring the Link between Maternity Leave and Postpartum Depression. Women's health issues : official publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health, 28(4), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2018.03.008
- 9.) Houser, L., & Vartanian, T. P. (2012). Pay matters: The positive economic impacts of paid family leave for families, businesses and the public. Rutgers Center for Women and Work.
- 10.) National Partnership for Women & Families, (2022). Fathers need paid family and medical leave. Retrieved from: https://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/economic-justice/paid-leave/fathers-need-paid-family-and-medical-leave.pdf

Youth and Young Adults

- 1.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 07&islTopic=TOPIC29&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS07&hidTopi c=TOPIC29&hidTopicName=Health+Care+Coverage&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators= HLTHPLN&iclIndicators rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators= HLTHPLN&hidPreviou slySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divYearUpdating%3dHide%2ci slYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=300&rdRnd=50910
- 2.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 07&islTopic=TOPIC28&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS07&hidTopi c=TOPIC28&hidTopicName=Health+Care+Cost&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators=MEDCOST1&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators=MEDCOST1&hidPrevio uslySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide% 2cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=0&rdRnd =72743
- 3.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 08&islTopic=TOPIC41&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS08&hidTopi c=TOPIC41&hidTopicName=Overall+Health&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators=GENHLTH&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators=GENHLTH&hidPreviousl ySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2ci slTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=300&rdRnd =3028
- 4.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 01&islTopic=TOPIC30&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS01&hidTopi c=TOPIC30&hidTopicName=Heavy+Drinking&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators=_RFDRHV7&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators=_RFDRHV7&hidPreviou absCalasterd in diseteens & Death acadCalaster Count 28 adds aux[]amount 128 adds aux[]amount 12

slySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2 cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=200&rdRn d=60712

- 5.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&isILocation=47&isIState=&isICounty=&isIClass=CLASS 01&isITopic=TOPIC07&isIYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS01&hidTopi c=TOPIC07&hidTopicName=Binge+Drinking&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLicIIndicators=_RFBING5&icIIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&icIIndicators=_RFBING5&hidPreviousI ySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divYearUpdating%3dHide%2cisI Year%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=100&rdRnd=87801
- 6.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 15&islTopic=TOPIC23&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS15&hidTopi c=TOPIC23&hidTopicName=Exercise&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators= TOTINDA&iclIndicators rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators= TOTINDA&hidPrevious

lySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2ci slTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=0&rdRnd=7 951

- 7.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). 2020 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 12&islTopic=TOPIC50&islYear=2020&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS12&hidTopi c=TOPIC50&hidTopicName=Seatbelt+Use&hidYear=2020&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators= RFSEAT2&iclIndicators rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators= RFSEAT2&hidPreviousl ySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2ci slTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=300&rdRnd =83555
- 8.) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.(2017). 2015-2016 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Retrieved from: <u>https://pdas.samhsa.gov/saes/state</u>
- 9.) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.(2021). 2019-2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Retrieved from: <u>https://pdas.samhsa.gov/saes/state</u>
- 10.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 19&islTopic=TOPIC67&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS19&hidTopi c=TOPIC67&hidTopicName=E-Cigarette+Use&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators= CURECI1%2cECIGNOW1&iclIndicators rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators= CURECI 1%2cECIGNOW1&hidPreviouslySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=d ivTopicUpdating%3dHide%2cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScr ollX=0&rdScrollY=232&rdRnd=66638
- 11.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 19&islTopic=TOPIC67&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS19&hidTopi c=TOPIC67&hidTopicName=E-Cigarette+Use&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators=_CURECI1%2cECIGNOW1&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators=_CURECI 1%2cECIGNOW1&hidPreviouslySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=d ivTopicUpdating%3dHide%2cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScr ollX=0&rdScrollY=232&rdRnd=66638
- 12.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS 03&islTopic=TOPIC17&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS03&hidTopi c=TOPIC17&hidTopicName=Depression&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICLiclIndicators=ADDEPEV3&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators=ADDEPEV3&hidPreviou slySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory=divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2 cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rdScrollX=0&rdScrollY=200&rdRn
- <u>d=25649</u>
 13.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 BRFSS Prevalence & Trends Data. Retrieved from: <u>https://nccd.cdc.gov/BRFSSPrevalence/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DPH_BRFSS.ExploreByLocation&rdProcessAc</u> <u>tion=&SaveFileGenerated=1&irbLocationType=States&islLocation=47&islState=&islCounty=&islClass=CLASS</u> <u>20&islTopic=TOPIC71&islYear=2021&hidLocationType=States&hidLocation=47&hidClass=CLASS20&hidTopi</u> <u>c=TOPIC71&hidTopicName=Healthy+Days&hidYear=2021&irbShowFootnotes=Show&rdICL-</u> iclIndicators= PHYS14D%2c_MENT14D&iclIndicators_rdExpandedCollapsedHistory=&iclIndicators= PHYS1

<u>4D%2c</u> MENT14D&hidPreviouslySelectedIndicators=&DashboardColumnCount=2&rdShowElementHistory =divTopicUpdating%3dHide%2cislTopic%3dShow%2cdivYearUpdating%3dHide%2cislYear%3dShow%2c&rd ScrollX=0&rdScrollY=226.39999389648438&rdRnd=41540

- 14.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2021 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full21.pdf
- 15.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2020 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full20.pdf
- 16.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2019 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full19.pdf
- 17.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2018 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full18.pdf
- 18.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2017).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2017 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full17.pdf
- 19.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2016 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full16.pdf
- 20.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2015).Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population by sex, race, Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, marital status, and detailed age, 2015 annual averages. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/lau/table14full15.pdf
- 21.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table B17024, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=B17024:+AGE+BY+RATIO+OF+INCOME+TO+POVERTY+LEVEL+IN+THE+PAS</u>
- T+12+MONTHS&g=0100000US&d=ACS+1-Year+Estimates+Detailed+Tables&tid=ACSDT1Y2021.B17024 22.) Based upon a single-person household under 200% FPL.
- 23.) Chetty, R., Grusky, D., Hell, M., Hendren, N., Manduca, R., & Narang, J. (2017). The fading American dream: Trends in absolute income mobility since 1940. Science, 356(6336), 398-406.
- 24.) Ross, M., Piña, G., Moore, K. A., Warren, J., & Bateman, N. (2022, June 21). *Diverging employment pathways: Overview*. Brookings. Retrieved December 1, 2022, from https://www.brookings.edu/essay/pathways-to-upward-mobility-overview/
- 25.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table B08101, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=Tennessee+by+age&d=ACS+1-</u> Year+Estimates+Detailed+Tables&tid=ACSDT1Y2021.B08101
- 26.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table B08134, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=time+to+work&g=0400000US47&d=ACS+1-Year+Estimates+Detailed+Tables&tid=ACSDT1Y2021.B08134</u>
- COVID-19
 - U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2022). BRIEF8.B, 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childstats.gov/americaschildren/tables/brief8b.asp?popup=true</u>
 - 2.) Imperial College London. (2022). COVID-19 Orphanhood.Accessed on November 11, 2022. Retrieved from:

https://imperialcollegelondon.github.io/orphanhood_calculator/#/country/United%20States%20of%2 OAmerica

- 3.) Unwin, H. J. T., Hillis, S., Cluver, L., Flaxman, S., Goldman, P. S., Butchart, A., ... & Sherr, L. (2022). Global, regional, and national minimum estimates of children affected by COVID-19-associated orphanhood and caregiver death, by age and family circumstance up to Oct 31, 2021: an updated modelling study. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 6(4), 249-259.
- 4.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.(2022). October 5 October 17, 2022 Household pulse survey. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/covid19/pulse/long-covid.htm</u>
- 5.) Weill Cornell Medicine. (2022). Patients with Long COVID Face Significant Mental Health Challenges.

Economics

Poverty

- 1.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2012). Table S1701, 2011 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from:
 - https://data.census.gov/table?q=poverty+under+18+tennessee&g=0100000US&tid=ACSST1Y2011.S1701
- 2.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). Table S1701, 2022 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from:
 - https://data.census.gov/table?q=poverty+under+18+tennessee&g=0100000US&tid=ACSST1Y2021.S1701
- 3.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). Table S1701, 2019 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from:

https://data.census.gov/table?q=poverty+under+18+tennessee&g=0100000US&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S1701

- 4.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). Table B17024, 2022 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: https://data.census.gov/table?q=B17024:+AGE+BY+RATIO+OF+INCOME+TO+POVERTY+LEVEL+IN+THE+PAS T+12+MONTHS&g=0100000US&tid=ACSDT1Y2021.B17024
- 5.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). Table B17024, 2019 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: https://data.census.gov/table?q=B17024:+AGE+BY+RATIO+OF+INCOME+TO+POVERTY+LEVEL+IN+THE+PAS T+12+MONTHS&g=0100000US&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B17024
- 6.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022). County employment and wages in Tennessee first quarter 2022. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bls.gov/regions/southeast/news-</u>release/countyemploymentandwages tennessee.htm
- 7.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). 2021 Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.census.gov/data-</u> <u>tools/demo/saipe/#/?s_state=47&s_county=&s_district=&s_geography=county&s_measures=u18&map_y_earSelector=2011&x_tableYears=2021,2020,2019,2011</u>
- 8.) Tennessee Office of the Governor. (2019). Gov. Bill Lee issues first executive order to address accelerated transformation of rural areas. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.tn.gov/governor/news/2019/1/23/gov--bill-lee-issues-first-executive-order-to-address-accelerated-transformation-of-rural-areas.html</u>
- 9.) Transparent Tennessee. (2022). FY2023 Distressed Counties. Accessed on December 20, 2022. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.tn.gov/transparenttn/state-financial-overview/open-ecd/openecd/tnecd-performance-metrics/openecd-long-term-objectives-quick-stats/distressed-counties.html</u>
- 10.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019). County employment and wages in Tennessee first quarter 2019. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bls.gov/regions/southeast/news-</u>
 <u>release/2019/pdf/countyemploymentandwages_tennessee_20190918.pdf</u>

Supplemental Poverty Measure

1.) U.S. Census Bureau, Current Population Survey, 2021 and 2022 Annual Social and Economic Supplements (CPS ASEC). Table B-8 Effect of Individual Elements on the Number of Individuals in Poverty: 2020 and 2021.

2.) Creamer, J., Shrider, E. A., Burns, K., & Chen, F. (2022). Poverty in the United States: 2021. US Census Bureau.

Housing

- 1.) U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2017). Defining housing affordability. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.huduser.gov/portal/pdredge/pdr-edge-featd-article-081417.html</u>
- 2.) Shomon Shamsuddin & Colin Campbell (2021): Housing Cost Burden, Material Hardship, and Well-Being, Housing Policy Debate, DOI: 10.1080/10511482.2021.1882532
- 3.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). Table S2503, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=housing+cost+tennessee&tid=ACSST1Y2021.S2503</u>
- 4.) National Low Income Housing Coalition. (2022). State data overview. Retrieved from: https://nlihc.org/housing-needs-by-state/tennessee
- 5.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Households with children where there was little or no confidence in ability to pay their next rent or mortgage payment on time in Tennessee. December 29, 2021- January 10, 2022 Household Pulse Survey. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/10882-households-with-children-that-sometimes-or-often-did-not-have-enough-food-to-eat-in-the-past-week?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/true/2480/any/21160</u>
- 6.) U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). Table S2504, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: https://data.census.gov/table?q=housing+cost+tennessee&tid=ACSST1Y2021.S2504
- 7.) National Center for Homeless Education. (2021). Tennessee. Retrieved from: https://profiles.nche.seiservices.com/StateProfile.aspx?StateID=50
- 8.) U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2022). Caring for the health and wellness of children experiencing homelessness. Administration for Children & Families, Head Start.
- 9.) Clark, R. E., Weinreb, L., Flahive, J. M., & Seifert, R. W. (2019). Infants exposed to homelessness: health, health care use, and health spending from birth to age six. Health Affairs, 38(5), 721-728.
- 10.) National Alliance to End Homelessness. (2022) State of homelessness Tennessee. Retrieved from: <u>https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/homelessness-statistics/state-of-homelessness-report/tennessee/</u>
- 11.) Poblacion, A., Bovell-Ammon, A., Sheward, R., Sandel, M., de Cuba, S. E., Cutts, D., & Cook, J. Stable Homes Make Healthy Families-Children's HealthWatch, 2017.

Education

Education Outcomes

- 1.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). Guide to test interpretation: 2021-22 TCAP Assessments.
- 2.) U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP)Assessment.
- 3.) U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP)Assessment. Reading achievement levels by grade. Retrieved from: <u>https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/reading/achieve.aspx#2009_grade4</u>
- 4.)

Support Services

- 1.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2020-2021 Annual Statistical Report Table 3-2.
- 2.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2021-2022 Coordinated School Health Report.
- 3.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2020-2021 Annual Statistical Report Table 8.
- 4.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2020-2021 Annual Statistical Report Table 11.
- 5.) National Alliance on Mental Illness. (2021). Policy Priorities Mental Health in Schools

- 6.) National Conference of State Legislatures. (2021). Enhancing School Capacity to Support Children's Mental Health
- 7.) National Center for Education Statistics. (2022). Prevalence of Mental Health Services Provided by Public Schools and Limitations in Schools' Efforts to Provide Mental Health Services.
- Lapan, R., Whitcomb, S., & Aleman, N. (2012). Connecticut professional school counselors: College and career counseling services and smaller ratios benefit students. Professional School Counseling, 16(2), 117-124.

Early Ed

- 1.) Child Care Aware. (2021). Price of care: 2021 child care affordability analysis. Retrieved from: https://info.childcareaware.org/hubfs/Child%20Care%20Affordability%20Analysis%202021.pdf
- 2.) Tennesseans for Quality Early Education. (2020). Want to grow Tennessee's economy? Fix the child care crisis.
- 3.) Tennesseans for Quality Early Education. (2022). Workforce of today and tomorrow: the economics of Tennessee's child care crisis.
- 4.) Tennesseans for Quality Early Education. (2021). Tennessee early education statewide survey. Retrieved from: <u>https://tqee.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-TQEE-Voter-Poll-FINAL.pdf</u>

Health

Overall health

- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9353&r=44
- 2.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9516&r=44
- 3.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9237&r=44</u>
- 4.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9373&r=44&g=1002
- 5.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/allstates?q=9246</u>
- 6.) Tennessee Department of Education.(2022). 2021-2022 annual school health services report.
- 7.) Tennessee Department of Health (2022). Results of the 2021 immunization status survey of 24-month-old children in Tennessee.

Youth Mental Health

- 1.) Reinert, M, Fritze, D. & Nguyen, T. (October 2021). "The State of Mental Health in America 2022" Mental Health America, Alexandria VA
- 2.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022).WISQARS. Retrieved from: <u>https://wisqars.cdc.gov/data/explore-data/explore/selected-</u> <u>years?ex=eyJ0YmkiOlsiMCJdLCJpbnRlbnRzljpbljliXSwibWVjaHMiOlsiMjA4MTAiXSwic3RhdGUiOlsiNDciX</u> <u>SwicmFjZSI6WylxliwiMiIsIjMiLCI0II0sImV0aG5pY3R5IjpbljEiLClyliwiMyJdLCJzZXgiOlsiMSIsIjliXSwiYWdIR</u> <u>3JvdXBzTWluljpbljAwLTA0II0sImFnZUdyb3Vwc01heCI6WylxOTkiXSwiY3VzdG9tQWdlc01pbil6WylwII0sI</u> <u>mN1c3RvbUFnZXNNYXgiOlsiMjQiXSwiZnJvbVllYXIiOlsiMjAyMCJdLCJob1llYXIiOlsiMjAyMCJdLCJ5cGxsQ</u> <u>WdlcyI6Wyl3NSJdLCJtZXRybyI6WylxliwiMiJdLCJhZ2VidXR0bil6ImN1c3RvbSIsImdyb3VwYnkxljoiTk9ORS</u> J9
- 3.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey (ABES). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/abes/tables/summary.htm</u>
- Radhakrishnan, L. (2022). Pediatric Emergency department visits associated with mental health conditions before and during the COVID-19 Pandemic—United States, January 2019–January 2022. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 71.
- 5.) National Eating Disorders Association (N.D.) Statistics & research on eating disorders. Retrieved from: https://www.nationaleatingdisorders.org/statistics-research-eating-disorders
- 6.) Vanderbilt Center for Child Health Policy (2022) 2021 Tennessee child health poll. Retrieved from: https://www.vumc.org/childhealthpolicy/sites/default/files/MentalHealth_DataTables.pdf
- 7.) Vanderbilt Center for Child Health Policy (2021) 2020 Tennessee child health poll. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.vumc.org/childhealthpolicy/sites/default/files/Methods%26Tables_EducationMentalHea_lth_0.pdf</u>
- 8.) Vanderbilt Center for Child Health Policy (2020) 2019 Tennessee child health poll. Retrieved from: https://www.vumc.org/childhealthpolicy/methods-2019-vanderbilt-child-health-poll

Substance Use

- Miech, R. A., Johnston, L. D., Patrick, M.E., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E., (2023). Monitoring the Future National Survey Results on Drug Use, 1975–2022: Secondary School Students. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan. Available at http://monitoringthefuture.org/results/publications/ monographs/
- 2.) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration .(2021). National Survey on Drug Use and Health State Estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://pdas.samhsa.gov/saes/state</u>
- 3.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey (ABES). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/abes/tables/summary.htm</u>

Risk Behaviors

- 1.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey (ABES). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/abes/tables/summary.htm</u>
- 2.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2019). 2019 Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS). Retrieved Food & Nutrition
- 3.) U.S. Department of Agriculture.(2022). 2001-2021 Current Population Survey, Food Security Supplement. Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/5201-children-living-in-households-thatwere-food-insecure-at-some-point-during-theyear?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2097,1985,1757,1687,1652,1564,1491,1443,1218,1049/any/116 74,11675

- 4.) U.S. Department of Agriculture.(2022). 2011-13 and 2019-2021 Current Population Survey, Food Security Supplement. Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/5201-children-living-in-households-that-were-food-insecure-at-some-point-during-the-year?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/false/2097,1218/any/11674,11675
- 5.) Feeding America .(2022). Map the meal gap 2022 technical brief: An Analysis of County and Congressional District Food Insecurity and County Food Cost in the United States in 2020.
- 6.) Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2022). SAPCE2 Per capita personal consumption expenditures (PCE) by major type of product. Retrieved from: https://apps.bea.gov/iTable/?reqid=70&step=1&isuri=1&acrdn=7#eyJhcHBpZCI6NzAsInN0ZXBzIjpbMSwyN CwyOSwyNSwzMSwyNiwyNywzMF0sImRhdGEiOItbIlRhYmxISWQiLCI1MjUiXSxbIkNsYXNzaWZpY2F0aW9uli wiTkFJQ1MiXSxbIk1ham9yX0FyZWEiLCIwII0sWyJTdGF0ZSIsWyIwII1dLFsiQXJIYSIsWyI0NzAwMCJdXSxbIlN0Y XRpc3RpYyIsWyI5II1dLFsiVW5pdF9vZl9tZWFzdXJIliwiTGV2ZWxzII0sWyJZZWFyIixbIjIwMjEiXV0sWyJZZWFyQ mVnaW4iLCItMSJdLFsiWWVhcl9FbmQiLCItMSJdXX0
- 7.) Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021). Table 1203. Consumer Expenditure Surveys. Retrieved from: https://www.bls.gov/cex/tables/calendar-year/mean-item-share-average-standard-error/cu-incomebefore-taxes-2021.pdf
- 8.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). The percentage of households with children birth to age 17 that sometimes or often did not have enough food to eat in the past seven days. September 14 26, 2022 Household Pulse Survey . Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/10882-households-with-children-that-sometimes-or-often-did-not-have-enough-food-to-eat-in-the-past-week?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/true/2480/any/21160
- 9.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Households with children that had difficulty paying for usual household expenses in the past week in Tennessee. September 14 26, 2022 Household Pulse Survey . Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/10896-households-with-children-that-had-difficulty-paying-for-usual-household-expenses-in-the-past-week?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/44/true/2480/any/21185
- 10.) from: https://yrbs-explorer.services.cdc.gov/#/

Access to care

- KIDSCOUNT Data Center (2021). 2020 Uninsured children and youth qualify for Children's Health Insurance Program of Medicaid in Tennessee. Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/9470uninsured-children-and-youth-qualify-for-childrens-heath-insurance-program-ormedicaid?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/any/false/574,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867/any/18615,1861 6
- 2.) KIDSCOUNT Data Center (2021). Uninsured children and youth under age 19 by all income levels in Tennessee. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/9055-uninsured-children-and-youth-under-age-19-by-all-income-</u>
 - levels?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/any/false/574,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36,868,867/any/18612,18032
- 3.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table S2701, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=uninsured&g=0400000US47</u>
- 4.) Kaiser Family Foundation.(2021). Who could get covered under Medicaid expansion? State fact sheets.
- 5.) U.S. Census Bureau (2022). Table B27016, 2021 American Community Survey 1-year estimates. Retrieved from: <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=health+insurance+in+tennessee&tid=ACSDT1Y2021.B27016</u>
- 6.) Kenney, G. M., Haley, J., Pan, C., Lynch, V., & Buettgens, M. (2016). Children's coverage climb continues: Uninsurance and Medicaid/CHIP eligibility and participation under the ACA. Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.
- 7.) Venkataramani, M., Pollack, C. E., & Roberts, E. T. (2017). Spillover effects of adult Medicaid expansions on children's use of preventive services. Pediatrics, 140(6).

- 8.) Wagner, J., & Solomon, J. (2021). Continuous Eligibility Keeps People Insured and Reduces Costs. CBPP, May, 4.
- 9.) Hannagan, A., & Morduch, J. (2015). Income gains and month-to-month income volatility: Household evidence from the US Financial Diaries. NYU Wagner research paper, (2659883).
- 10.) Vanderbilt Center for Child Health Policy (2020) Tennessee child health poll. Retrieved from: https://www.vumc.org/childhealthpolicy/sites/default/files/PollReport_InsuranceFoodSecurity_sm_0.pdf
- 11.) Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2021). Express lane eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP coverage.

Maternal Mortality

1.) Tennessee Department of Health. (2022). Maternal Mortality in Tennessee 2017-2020.

Infant & Maternal Care

- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9244&r=44&r2=1
- 2.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/allstates?q=9253
- 3.) America's Health Rankings.(2022). 2022 Health of women and children report. United Health Foundation. Retrieved from: <u>https://assets.americashealthrankings.org/app/uploads/allstatesums-hwc2022.pdf</u>
- 4.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tennessee 2020 Report, CDC Survey of Maternity Practices in Infant Nutrition and Care. Atlanta, GA. September 2021
- 5.) Centers for Disease Control. (2022). WONDER Natality 2016-2021.
- 6.) Tennessee Department of Health. (2021). Neonatal abstinence syndrome surveillance annual report 2020.
- 7.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). Treatment for opioid use disorder before, during, and after pregnancy. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/pregnancy/opioids/treatment.html#:~:text=ACOG%20and%20SAMHSA%20recommend%20treatment,safety%20during%20pregnancy%20is%20limited.</u>
- 8.) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2016). A collaborative approach to the treatment of pregnant women with opioid use disorders. *Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration,*, 1-124.
- 9.) Patrick, S. W., Richards, M. R., Dupont, W. D., McNeer, E., Buntin, M. B., Martin, P. R., ... & Cooper, W. O. (2020). Association of pregnancy and insurance status with treatment access for opioid use disorder. *JAMA network open*, *3*(8), e2013456-e2013456.

Dental Care

- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2016-2017 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=5437&r=44
- 2.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2017-2018 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA),

Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=7081&r=44

- 3.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2018-2019 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?g=7726&r=44
- 4.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2019-2020 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=8608&r=44
- 5.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9377&r=44
- 6.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9240&r=44
- 7.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from:https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9377&r=44
- 8.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9377&r=44
- 9.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9241&r=44
- 10.) Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) data query. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health Bureau (MCHB).Retrieved from: <u>https://www.childhealthdata.org/browse/survey/results?q=9239&r=44</u>
- 11.) Tennessee Department of Health.(2022). Tennessee State Oral Health Plan.
- 12.) Tenncare.(2022). Enrollment Data October 2022.

Child Welfare & Youth Justice

Child Welfare

- 1.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services. (2022). Annual Report FY2020-21.
- 2.) The Tennessee Department of Children's Services supplied case data. Population data were from the Division of Population Health Assessment, Tennessee Department of Health. The Kids Count division of the Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth calculated the rates. 2022 rate based on 2021 population. Retrieved from: <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/2986-substantiated-child-abuse-neglect-cases?loc=44&loct=2#detailed/2/any/false/1095,2048,574,1729,37,871,870,573,869,36/any/6176,13</u>

282
3.) U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2022). Child Welfare Outcomes Reports Data Outcome 4.2: Reentries into Foster Care. Administration for Children & Families: Children's Bureau.

- Retrieved from: <u>https://cwoutcomes.acf.hhs.gov/cwodatasite/fourTwo/index</u>
 4.) Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. (2022). Performance audit report Department of Children's Services.
- 5.) U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2022). Child Welfare Outcomes Reports Data Outcome 6: Placement Stability. Administration for Children & Families: Children's Bureau. Retrieved from: <u>https://cwoutcomes.acf.hhs.gov/cwodatasite/sixOneLessThan12/index</u>

Youth Transitions

- Child Trends analysis of data from the Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting System (AFCARS), made available through the National Data Archive on Child Abuse and Neglect. Retrieved from: https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/6244-children-in-foster-care-by-agegroup?loc=1&loct=2#ranking/2/any/true/574/2619/12989
- 2.) National Conference of State Legislatures. (2020). Older Youth Housing, Financial Literacy and Other Supports.
- 3.) Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth. (2022) 2022 Youth Transitions Advisory Council Annual Report.

Domestic Violence

- 1.) Tennessee Bureau of Investigation. (2022). 2021 domestic violence in Tennessee.
- 2.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). 2021 Adolescent Behaviors and Experiences Survey (ABES). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/abes/tables/summary.htm</u>
- 3.) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2019). 2019 Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS). Retrieved from: <u>https://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/app/Results.aspx?LID=TN</u>

Human Trafficking

- 1.) Polaris Project. (2022). Analysis of 2021 national human trafficking hotline data. Retrieved from: https://polarisproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Polaris-Analysis-of-2021-Data-from-the-National-Human-Trafficking-Hotline.pdf
- 2.) National Human Trafficking Hotline. (2022). 2021 State Statistics. Retrieved from: https://humantraffickinghotline.org/en/statistics/tennessee
- 3.) Polaris Project. (2021). Analysis of 2020 national human trafficking hotline data. Retrieved from: https://polarisproject.org/2020-us-national-human-trafficking-hotline-statistics/

Suspension/Expulsion

1.) Edmentum. (2022). Consequences of suspension and what schools can do instead. Retrieved from: https://blog.edmentum.com/consequences-suspension-and-what-schools-can-doinstead#:~:text=Loss%20of%20learning%20and%20sinking,to%20drop%20as%20a%20result.

- LiCalsi, C., Osher, D., & Bailey, P. (2021). An Empirical Examination of the Effects of Suspension and Suspension Severity on Behavioral and Academic Outcomes. https://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article/131/3/e1000/30944/Out-of-School-Suspension-and-Expulsion
- 3.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2020-2021 Annual Statistical Report Table 10
- 4.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2021). 2019-2020 Annual Statistical Report Table 10
- 5.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2020). 2018-2019 Annual Statistical Report Table 10
- 6.) Tennessee Department of Education. (2022). 2020-21 Corporal Punishment Report
- 7.) American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on School Health. Corporal punishment in schools. Pediatrics 2000; 106(2,pt 1):343

Youth Justice

- 1.) Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. (2022). Performance audit report Department of Children's Services.
- 2.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2021) FY2020-2021 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 3.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2020) FY2019-2020 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 4.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2019) FY2018-2019 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 5.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2018) FY2017-2018 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 6.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2017) FY2016-2017 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 7.) Tennessee Department of Children's Services (2016) FY2015-2016 report pursuant to Public Chapter 1005
- 8.) Casey Family Programs .(2022). What are the outcomes for youth placed in group and institutional settings? Retrieved from: <u>https://www.casey.org/group-placement-impacts/</u>
- 9.) Mulvey, E. P., & Schubert, C. A. (2014). Smarter use of placement can improve outcomes for youth and communities. *Chicago: MacArthur Foundation*.

* Error rate is for a sample of 75 cases, except the Child Protective Investigative Team (CPIT) errors, which apply to the 26 severe cases in our sample.

⁺ According to DCS Policy 14.3, "Screening, Priority Response and Assignment of Child Protective Services Cases," Priority 1 (P-1) cases "are initiated by face-to-face contact with the [alleged child victim] ACV no later than twentyfour (24) hours"; P-2 cases "are initiated by face-to-face contact with the ACV within two (2) business days"; and P-3 cases "are initiated by face-to-face contact with the ACV within three (3) business days."

‡ The "Protocol for Completion of the Family Advocacy and Support Tool (FAST)" requires case managers to submit the safety assessment component of the FAST to the supervisor within five business days from the intake date and requires the supervisor to approve it within three business days of submission by the case manager. § DCS Policy 14.7, "Child Protective Services Investigation Track," and Policy 14.26, "Child Protective Services Assessment Track," require case managers to classify cases within 30 days, with exceptions for investigations marked as "severe," which are to be classified within 60 days.



The Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth is an independent state agency created by the Tennessee General Assembly. Its primary mission is to lead systems improvement for all children and families through datadriven advocacy, education and collaboration. Information on the agency is available at www.tn.gov/tccy